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ACCESSIONS DISTRIBUTED  
BY INTERNATIONAL  GENEBANKS 

72,000

CROP ACCESSIONS IN GENESYS  
Updated data on 

2,907,006 
accession records 

ACCESSIONS CONSERVED 

774,000
in international collections 

KEY FIGURES

ACCESSIONS  
ADDED TO SVALBARD 

64,403
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ACCESSIONS DISTRIBUTED  
BY INTERNATIONAL  GENEBANKS 

72,000

CROP ACCESSIONS IN GENESYS  
Updated data on 

2,907,006 
accession records 

VALUE OF GRANTS PROVIDED  
FOR CONSERVATION 

USD 36.8M
CWR SAMPLES COLLECTED  

1,201  
from 18 countries

NEW CONTRIBUTIONS RECEIVED  

USD 75.5M 
USD 15.5M in contributions & USD 60M 
in our first-ever concessional loan

COUNTRIES RECEIVING SAMPLES  
Number of countries receiving samples  
from Crop Trust-supported collections 

98
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In 2017, 83 million people across 
45 countries required emergency 
food assistance. This was an 
increase of more than 70% from 
2015. It required massive global 
cooperation to help so many 
people, and that is exactly what it 
will take to address the causes of 
food and nutritional insecurity, too.

The importance of crop diversity in 
this must not be underestimated. 
In just one example, diversity in 

crop collections has enabled scientists to breed nutritionally 
improved crops. They are drawing on diversity not only to produce 
a better, more reliable harvest, but to solve the “hidden hunger” 
of micronutrient deficiency that afflicts two billion of our fellow 
human beings.

The Crop Trust has a mission to save the diversity that makes 
this possible. It is a great privilege to chair this dynamic 
organization with a role so vital for the world’s nutritional future. 
My predecessor, Ambassador Walter Fust, concluded a brilliant 
job in this position at the end of 2017. I thank him for the years 
of guidance he has given the Crop Trust and thank all who have 
been involved since the beginning.

Looking ahead to my first year as Chair, I am thrilled to have Sir 
Peter Crane as Vice Chair; he continually awes me with his scientific 
and technical knowhow. Of course, I could say the same about 
every member of the Board and the Crop Trust. Together, they 
represent the breadth of expertise found in the world of genetic 
resources. And we continue to apply our science to motivate the 
international action that is urgently needed to ensure a secure, 
healthy and diverse diet for people everywhere.

This past year, the Board reviewed and supervised all aspects of 
the Crop Trust’s work – its science, finances, partnerships and 
communications. We met at the Crop Trust secretariat in Bonn, 
Germany and at the International Rice Research Institute in 
the Philippines. For those present, the latter was a memorable 

opportunity to be with the staff of one of the world’s most 
important crop collections and see the work they do to conserve 
and use the astonishing diversity of rice, a plant that feeds half of 
humanity.

I was also honored to represent the Board in Kigali, Rwanda at 
the seventh Governing Body meeting of the International Treaty 
on Plant Genetic Resources for Food and Agriculture. Attending 
alongside Crop Trust Science Director, Luigi Guarino, this was an 
inspiring first-hand experience of the Treaty as an active force for 
international cooperation.

Our small secretariat team engaged in international cooperation 
in all sorts of ways. It included hosting events around the COP23 
climate conference in Bonn, and organizing regional workshops 
on collecting, conservation and information systems in Chile, 
Malaysia and Mexico. It meant enriching scientists’ data sharing 
through the Genesys Catalog Project, and uniting people from all 
walks of life to advocate for a shared future in the Food Forever 
Initiative. It meant momentum in key Crop Trust activities: bringing 
new deposits to the Svalbard Global Seed Vault; supporting the 
11 international genebanks of CGIAR and organizing efforts in 
dozens of countries to collect and use crop wild relatives.

I invite you to read more about all of these efforts in the report 
ahead, which shows that that international cooperation is alive 
and well when it comes to conserving the foundations of food and 
nutrition. The Crop Trust will be putting even more effort into this 
mission in the year ahead, and we hope you will join us.

LETTER FROM THE CHAIR OF THE EXECUTIVE BOARD 

TIM FISCHER
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The Crop Trust has a single job to do: 
safeguard one of the world’s most important 
natural resources, seeds. Without these, we 
quite simply can’t secure enough nutritious 
food for future generations.

For me, the Crop Trust mandate makes 
every single day at work meaningful. 
It is a privilege to work on an issue so 
fundamentally important to mankind. But it 
is also daunting to know that it is extremely 
urgent.

Crop diversity continues to be lost every 
day; from fields around the world, and from genebanks. It bothers 
me that while we in the conservation community continue to 
make good progress to protect and conserve it, we all as a global 
community are not moving quickly enough. If we don’t, agriculture 
might fail to meet its potential to be both productive and 
sustainable; it could mean that we fail to adapt quickly enough 
to the challenge of climate change; it could deprive our children - 
and their children - of options for feeding themselves.

Having said that, the 2017 Annual Report shows that the Crop Trust 
is making good progress in ensuring we have a firm foundation 
for this work. We’re helping to develop a rational global system 
for the conservation and use of crop diversity – both technically 
and financially. We know that our goal to safeguard crop diversity 
forever can be achieved. However, we also know that we won’t get 
there without our partners.

On the technical side, our many partners are crucial to ensuring our 
work is far-reaching and effective. From the Ministry of Agriculture 
in Norway, the Nordic Genetic Resource Center and Statsbygg, 
who help ensure the continuing success of the Svalbard Global 
Seed Vault, to the many staff on the ground in Africa, Asia, Europe 
and the Americas, running genebanks day and night, and scouring 
sometimes inhospitable habitats for important wild plants.

Our partners in the decade-long Crop Wild Relatives (CWR) 
project deserve a particular mention. Since the launch of the 
project seven years ago, we have joined together with more than 

50 partners in this powerful and unique work. Many crop wild 
relatives have been collected in 24 priority countries, some CWR 
populations have been rescued from the brink of extinction, and 
many are being screened for useful traits. We expect this work 
will soon result in impacts for farmers – from increased climate 
change resilience to improved incomes from the development of 
hardier, more productive crops.

In support of its mission, the Crop Trust has developed a much 
more diverse fundraising strategy, which we started to implement 
in 2017. One element that I am particularly enthusiastic about is a 
focus on funding the conservation of specific crops. Crop-specific 
strategies provide opportunities for the private sector to support 
the conservation of the crops critical to their supply chains. Coffee, 
for example, is the world’s second-most traded commodity, with a 
global industry worth around USD 100 billion a year, and over 100 
million smallholder farmers depend on it as a cash crop. It makes 
sense that a coffee roaster might want to fund the conservation of 
the crop that their entire business model depends on, especially 
given the looming challenge of climate change. We will implement 
fundraising campaigns for coffee, and also for tea, in 2018.

Another new aspect in our fundraising strategy is the use of 
concessional loans. These are funds provided for a defined 
period, at an interest rate lower than the market rate. In 2017, we 
were extremely grateful to the German government for their EUR 
50 million loan from KfW including an interest subsidy from BMZ. 
The loan increased the size of our endowment fund significantly, 
and although it came in late in the year, it contributed to the 
excellent returns we had on the Crop Trust endowment. We’re 
also working with KfW to see how the Crop Trust can support 
important national genebanks through the Green Climate Fund.

With new partners and donors onboard, we look forward to 
building on the momentum generated in 2017. We are more 
dedicated than ever to deliver on our commitments to conserve 
and use crop diversity. This is in fact not just because current and 
future generations depend on it; but because they will thrive on 
it. I wish you an enjoyable read and look forward to working with 
you in the years ahead.

LETTER FROM THE EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

MARIE HAGA
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T            he 11 CGIAR genebanks hold some of the 
world’s largest and most used collections 
of crop diversity. They are a key pillar in the 
global system for ex situ crop conservation. 
These genebanks ensure that more than 

750,000 accessions are held in trust so everyone can 
use them.

The Crop Trust’s five-year partnership with CGIAR, known as 
the CGIAR Research Program for Managing and Sustaining 
Crop Collections, concluded in 2016. In 2017, the Crop Trust 
engaged in a new, even more ambitious, six-year program 
with the same partners, called the CGIAR Genebank 
Platform. The program ensures funding and continued work 
until 2022 on some of the most important crop collections 
globally. The CGIAR Genebank Platform is 
jointly funded by the Crop Trust and CGIAR.

CGIAR
GENEBANK PLATFORM

Genebanks need financial security. This will enable them to acquire the tools and staff they 
need to make their operations as efficient as possible, to plan for the future, and to look 
after one of humanity’s most important assets – crop diversity.

Charlotte Lusty
CGIAR Genebank Platform Coordinator

Cryopreservation techniques 
demonstrated at the 

International Institute of 
Tropical Agriculture (IITA). Photo: 

Shawn Landersz
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The CGIAR Genebank Platform is managed by the Crop Trust 
together with a Management Team comprised of managers 
from genebanks and germplasm health units (GHUs). It is 
organized into three modules: Conservation, Use and Policy. It 
aims to help CGIAR genebanks reach performance targets by 
strengthening quality management, optimizing conservation 
methods and data management systems, and promoting 
increased and more effective use of the collections.

There are several new features of the CGIAR 
Genebank Platform:

• The Policy Module, coordinated by Bioversity 
International, represents CGIAR in international policy 
fora including those relating to the International Treaty 
for Plant Genetic Resources for Food and Agriculture. 
In 2017, the Module produced an important paper on 
the implications of digital sequencing data to respond 
to increasing concern about the “dematerialization” of 
plant genetic resources. 

• The CGIAR Genebank Platform provides essential 
support to CGIAR GHUs so they can upgrade facilities, 
strengthen quality management systems and develop 
diagnostic tests for pests and pathogens. GHU leaders 
are working to develop a globally accepted health 
certification procedure for their accessions, known as 
a Green Pass, which will help speed up distribution of 
germplasm.

• An initiative on gap analysis is determining from 
where around the world landraces and traits requested 
by breeders are missing from germplasm collections. 
“Diversity trees” are being developed, which illustrate the 
structure of crop gene pools according to geography, 
traits and genetics.

• The Use Module is helping genebanks develop datasets 
and germplasm sets to respond to the needs of crop 

breeders and other users. Genebanks are capitalizing 
on newly available genotypic and phenotypic data to 
develop more powerful tools so breeders can select the 
best germplasm to suit their needs, rather than relying 
on curators to help them.

• The Conservation Module is focusing on improving 
efficiency on multiple levels. Automation of seed sorting 
and germination testing allows larger genebanks to 
reduce repetitive operations and save costs, and 
assure uniformly high seed quality. Seed management 
and longevity studies are helping to redefine testing 
frequency and extend the time that seed can remain in 
long-term storage. Genebank managers are exploring 
strategic operations that focus on conserving priority 
germplasm and taking steps to ‘spring clean’ duplicate 
accessions.

• Communication on the CGIAR Genebank Platform has 
received a boost. A website was launched and a regular 
newsletter will be published to engage the scientific 
community and encourage them to discover more 
about the crop collections in genebanks.

CGIAR genebanks 
in numbers: 

• 774,000 accessions managed

• 80% of accessions are available for 
international distribution

• 72,000 accessions distributed in 
2017
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Global crop conservation strategies help 
identify threats to the diversity of specific 
crops and opportunities to address them. 
The Crop Trust has led the development of 
global conservation strategies since 2014. 
The strategies often focus on crops that 
do not have one international genebank 
housing a global collection. The strategies 
bring these different genebanks together 
to form a global system.

The Crop Trust, via the CGIAR Genebank 
Platform and other activities, also 
supports the implementation of these 

global strategies. The Forages for the 
Future project implemented the strategy 
for the conservation and utilization of 
forages, which was developed in 2015, 
and continued in 2017 (implementation 
began in 2017). Consultants supported 
forage collections at the International 
Livestock Research Institute (ILRI) and the 
International Center for Tropical Agriculture 
(CIAT) to structure their collections and 
engage more closely with key national 
genebanks that conserve forages, and with 
each other.

GLOBAL STRATEGIES

A genebank staff member harvesting 
crops at the International Center 

for Agricultural Research in the Dry 
Areas (ICARDA) in Terbol, Lebanon. 

Photo: Shawn Landerz 
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Maize characterization at the International 
Institute of Tropical Agriculture (IITA) in Ibadan, 
Nigeria. Photo: Shawn Landersz
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For me, one of the most exciting things about the Crop Trust is that we support 
not only international genebanks, but also regional and national genebanks in a 
global system of ex situ conservation of plant genetic resources.

Nelissa Jamora 
Crop Trust Monitoring and Evaluation Specialist

The Crop Trust is mandated to ensure the 
conservation and availability of crop diversity for 
global food security. No single institution can 
hold this diversity – amounting to millions of 
crop accessions – and make it available to plant 

breeders and farmers around the world. Here are some 
examples of  the support we gave in 2017. 

GENEBANK REVIEWS
The Crop Trust supports external reviews of national and regional 
genebanks. These reviews assess the effectiveness and efficiency 
of the management, operations, and facilities of genebanks. They 
also consider the status of individual collections in the context of 
a global system for long-term conservation and use of the crops 
in question. In 2017, the Crop Trust supported reviews of the 
Pacific Community’s Centre for Pacific Crops and Trees (CePaCT), 
the Tropical Agricultural Research and Higher Education Center 
(CATIE) and the Southern African Development Community Plant 
and Genetic Resource Centre (SPGRC). 

COOLING DOWN YEMEN
Genebank managers always fear that their cooling units might 
fail. If it happens when your country is suffering from civil war 
and economic strife, it becomes a manager’s worst nightmare. 
When the 6,000 accessions at the National Genetic Resources 
Center in Dhamar, Yemen were at risk of being lost after a cooling 
unit malfunctioned in October of 2017, the Crop Trust quickly 
supported the Center to replace the equipment.
 

REBUILDING LOCAL SEED 
SYSTEMS IN NEPAL
Earthquakes devastated parts of central and western Nepal in 
2015 and destroyed farmers’ stocks of traditional seeds. The 
Crop Trust partnered with the National Genebank of Nepal and 
Bioversity International in a project between 2015 and 2017 that 
collected, conserved, multiplied, and restored native crop seeds. 
This helped strengthen the capacity of the national genebank and 

NATIONAL AND REGIONAL 
GENEBANKS
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made farm households more resilient. 

IMPROVING SEED 
CONSERVATION IN KENYA

The Genetic Resources Research Institute (GeRRI) in Kenya 
expressed an urgent need for an infrastructure upgrade to sustain 
routine genebank operations. Starting in July 2016, the Crop Trust, 
with funding support from the Department of Agriculture, Food 
and the Marine of Ireland, supported a project to modernize 
GeRRI’s refrigeration system and construct a seed packing 
workstation. It also supported the implementation of the GRIN-
Global software for improved germplasm data management. 

IT ASSESSMENTS AND 
UPGRADES

In 2017, Crop Trust staff visited and assessed information and 
documentation needs in four national genebanks. Crop Trust 
specialists visited four national genebanks to assess and later 
upgrade their IT systems.

Today’s genebanks need more than safe and secure storage 
facilities. They require the tools to document the thousands 
of accessions they manage. The Crop Trust provides financial 
grants and technical support to national and regional genebanks 
so that they can upgrade existing IT systems or develop new 
ones. Crop Trust genebank documentation experts visited 29 
national and regional genebanks between 2014 and early 2017 
to assess information and documentation needs. Based on these 
assessments, the Crop Trust has helped 20 genebanks strengthen 
their capacity for data management, including four in 2017.
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THE CROP WILD  
RELATIVES PROJECT

Crop wild relatives are to our food plants as wolves are to dogs. They’re distant but 
related cousins, often from far away, and hold an incredible amount of genetic diversity 
that has been lost to agriculture. They represent an invaluable resource for crop 
improvement that is yet to be fully explored, let alone exploited.

Hannes Dempewolf 
Crop Trust Senior Scientist & Head of Global Initiatives

T       he project Adapting Agriculture to Climate 
Change: Collecting, Protecting, and Preparing 
Crop Wild Relatives is a major global effort 
to conserve crop wild relatives (CWR) and 
promote their use in crop breeding. It 

supports national programs to collect and conserve CWR 
and collaborative pre-breeding projects. This ten-year 
initiative is in its third phase and is supported by the 
Government of Norway and implemented in partnership 
with the Millennium Seed Bank (MSB) of the Royal Botanic 
Gardens, Kew.

FILLING THE GAPS
Guided by a “gap analysis” – a study of what is missing from 
plant collections in genebanks - national partners have 

searched remote corners of the world for these treasures. 
The project has supported them by offering training and 
collecting materials. Collection and conservation of CWRs are 
now being supported in national programs in 24 countries, 
which by the end of 2017, had more than 3,200 new samples 
to take care of. The MSB has received 85% of these for safety 
duplication. The material at the MSB represents 55 genera, 
221 species and almost 7 million seeds. Data on the progress 
with the collection is now available on the Genesys website.
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The enthusiasm of our CWR national partners can 
be compared to that of treasure hunters. They leave 
no stone unturned in their quest to hunt wild crop 
relatives, those priceless natural resources that are 
needed to transform our food systems.

Beri Bonglim 
Crop Trust Technical Specialist
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PREPARING FOR USE 
Partners in the project not only work to collect and conserve these 
wild plant species but also prepare them for breeders and farmers. 
Crop wild relatives may have traits that can make our domesticated 
crops more resilient to adverse factors such as climate change. 
But it’s not an easy task to identify and transfer these traits to 
their domesticated cousins. The preparation process is called 
pre-breeding. It helps make the traits found in the CWRs available 
so breeders can incorporate them into cultivated crops.
 
Pre-breeding phase 1 (creating pre-bred materials) projects are 
underway, or have been concluded, for 19 crops. They involve 
a total of 53 national and international partners in 32 countries 
with a strong emphasis on training staff. Phase 3 (2017-2020) 
of the project focuses on expanding the pre-breeding work and 
evaluating germplasm derived from CWRs with breeders and 
farmers. These projects are planned for a minimum of ten crops. 
Those for sunflower and eggplant started in 2017.
 
Some promising pre-breeding materials are already becoming 
available. Ultimately, they will all be deposited in genebanks so they 
are accessible to anyone who would like to use them under the 
terms of the International Treaty on Plant Genetic Resources for 
Food and Agriculture (ITPGRFA). 

Some examples from our partners:

Pigeon pea: Pre-breeders at ICRISAT have selected 
a high-yielding line (ICPL 15028), which has 
resistance to multiple diseases (wilt, sterility 
mosaic disease and phytophthora). The line has 
been included in breeding programs in India.

Finger millet: Progress has been made in Kenya 
to identify crop wild relatives tolerant to the 
parasitic plant Striga (witchweed), which can 
cause crop losses of up to 100%.

 
Eggplant: Project partners generated promising 

materials and lines with drought tolerance. 
In the second phase of the project, partners 
will evaluate the new pre-breeding materials 
in different environments. The Crop Trust is 
collaborating with the World Vegetable Center 
as well as five breeding companies in this work.

Pigeon Pea pre-breeding work being 
carried out at ICRISAT under the Crop Wild 
Relatives Project. Photo: Mike Major
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MANAGING AND PRESENTING 
THE DATA
The Crop Trust has partnered with the James Hutton Institute 
in Dundee, UK to adapt a web-based platform called Germinate 
3 to help make the data of the pre-breeding projects publicly 
available. For example, it enables breeders to analyze and 
visualize the degree to which traits from the wild relatives 
have been introduced into cultivated varieties, and their effect. 
Ultimately, this means more efficient breeding.

Pre-breeding work is challenging, 
costly, labor intensive and requires 
serious expertise. But the benefits are 
more than worth the effort.

Benjamin Kilian
Crop Trust Plant Genetic Resources Scientist

The Crop Wild Relatives eggplant 
pre-breeding team at their final 
meeting. Photo: Crop Trust
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SVALBARD  
GLOBAL SEED VAULT

The Svalbard Global Seed Vault is an iconic reminder of the 
remarkable conservation effort that is taking place every day, 
around the world and around the clock – an effort to conserve 
the seeds of our food crops.

Marie Haga
Crop Trust Executive Director

Worldwide, more than 
1,700 genebanks hold 
collections of crop 
diversity for safekeeping. 
These genebanks can be 

vulnerable not only to natural catastrophes 
and war, but also to issues such as lack of 
funding. Something as simple as a poorly 
functioning freezer can ruin an entire 
collection, and the loss of a crop variety is 
irreversible.
 
This vulnerability sparked the idea of 
establishing a backup storage facility. The 
Svalbard Global Seed Vault is the ultimate 
insurance policy for the world’s food supply. 

It secures millions of seeds and is the world’s 
largest collection of crop diversity, offering 
options for future generations to overcome 
the agricultural challenges presented by 
climate change and population growth.

The Crop Trust supports the Seed Vault in 
partnership with the Norwegian government 
and the Nordic Genetic Resource Center 
(NordGen). Since 2008, the Crop Trust has 
funded a portion of the Seed Vault’s operational 
costs and partly funds the preparation and 
shipment of seeds to the facility.
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Accessions conserved in the  
Seed Vault at the end of 2017:

890,886
    Accessions added in 2017:  64,403

    Number of depositors in 2017:  12

    First-time depositors to the Seed Vault in 2017:   
    James Hutton Institute 

WHAT  
WE DO



  CROP TRUST 2017 ANNUAL REPORT 02 WHAT WE DO26



  CROP TRUST 2017 ANNUAL REPORT 02 WHAT WE DO 27

Making a deposit at Svalbard entails a bit 
more than putting some seed in boxes 
and posting them to Norway. Seeds need 
to be counted, weighed and tested for 
germination before being stored in airtight 
packages. Each accession is documented 
and then packed in suitable containers 
and stored in cool conditions while 
travelling to the airport. The Crop Trust 
provides support to depositors to ensure 
they have the funds and advice to send 
shipments safely and securely to Svalbard. 
By the end of 2017, the Crop Trust 
had sponsored the deposit of 600,875 
samples in the Seed Vault out of the total 
890,886 conserved there.

The Seed Vault grew even larger in 2017. It 
opened in February, May and September 
for deposits from 12 institutions. It 
holds seeds from nearly every country 
in the world. In the first deposit of 2017, 

nearly 50,000 accessions of seeds from 
collections in Benin, India, Pakistan, 
Lebanon, Morocco, the Netherlands, 
the United States, Mexico, Bosnia and 
Herzegovina, Belarus and the United 
Kingdom were deposited in the Seed 
Vault.

ICARDA WITHDRAWS 
… AND RETURNS
When fighting struck Aleppo, Syria near 
its genebank, the International Center 
for Agriculture Research in the Dry Areas 
(ICARDA) withdrew some of its duplicate 
seeds stored in Svalbard, so it could 
continue its multiplication and breeding 
efforts in safer locations. The Crop Trust 
provided support so ICARDA could not 
only make two retrievals but also return 
some of the seeds to Svalbard in 2017. 

ICARDA’s trust showcases to the world 
that the system the Crop Trust and its 
partners have developed to safeguard 
crop diversity really works.

A HURRICANE 
RESILIENT BEAN

On World Food Day 2017, the Crop 
Trust supported a major deposit of 
4,335 accessions to Svalbard, including 
the wind-resilient Bermuda bean. 
The bean appears to have evolved to 
withstand strong tropical storms and 
was rescued from near extinction in the 
wild. The International Center for Tropical 
Agriculture (CIAT) received a handful of 
seeds from the Millennium Seed Bank at 
Royal Botanic Gardens, Kew, in the UK, 
multiplied them and deposited duplicates 
in the Seed Vault.

WHAT  
WE DO

The seed deposits in 2017 show that 
despite political and economic differences 
in other arenas, collective efforts to 
conserve crop diversity and ensure a 
global food supply for tomorrow continue 
to be strong.

Tim Fischer
Crop Trust Executive Board Chair
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INFORMATION  
SYSTEMS 

Information about the accessions stored in the world’s 
genebanks is becoming more detailed and precise, as well 
as voluminous. The Crop Trust and the CGIAR Genebank 
Platform continue to support two initiatives - Genesys 
and GRIN-Global - which help expand the availability of 

information about plant genetic resources and improve the 
management of information systems.

GENESYS

Genesys is an online portal where users can explore the world’s 
collected crop diversity through a single website. Users can find 
information on seeds and other types of crop samples in more 
than 400 genebanks worldwide and can even order samples. The 
website allows hundreds of genebanks to share their accession 
data.
 
Genesys was enhanced in 2017 so that it could handle digital 
object identifiers (DOIs) assigned to plant genetic resources. A 
DOI is a unique and permanent identification code. DOIs are a 
powerful way to standardize identification of accessions across 
genebanks. If an accession is used for research or breeding, its 

DOI could be forever referenced in any resulting publication or 
linked to any derived products, such as new varieties.
 
The use of DOIs for plant genetic resources is just getting started 
and is being facilitated by the International Treaty on Plant Genetic 
Resources for Food and Agriculture (ITPGRFA). Genesys now has 
more than half a million records of accessions with DOIs linked to 
the Global Information System (GLIS). 

The Crop Trust is continually striving to expand Genesys by 
partnering with genebanks around the world. For example, in 
2017, a three-year grant agreement was signed with Embrapa 
in Brazil, for integration of its Alelo databases. This consolidates 
data from Brazil’s many genebanks and will add significantly to the 
comprehensiveness of Genesys.

GENESYS CATALOG
 
Genesys users often request more data on the performance of 
germplasm accessions. This information can help them to make 
more informed decisions on the material they decide to request. 
The two-year Genesys Catalog project, funded by the Federal 
Office for Agriculture and Food (Germany), provides phenotypic 

We’re talking about millions of genebank accessions worldwide … we need robust 
and user-friendly information systems that can handle that volume.

Matija Obreza
Crop Trust Information Systems Manager
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information to complement existing crop “passport” data in 
Genesys. The Crop Trust is working with four national and two 
international genebanks to develop mechanisms that strengthen 
their ability to gather data on their collections and publish it online. 
Project partners are recording information about who conducted 
the experiment that generated the data, who recorded the data 
and who validated it. This project will help genebanks acquire the 
tools to recover and conserve valuable performance data about 
their collections, and make it available to those who need it.

GRIN-GLOBAL
Genebank managers now have powerful tools to manage their 
collections. The Crop Trust and the United States Department 
of Agriculture have developed and deployed an advanced 
genebank data management software package called GRIN-
Global. This is being more widely adopted every year.
 
Transitioning to a new data management system can be technically 
difficult and very time consuming. The CGIAR Genebank Platform 
provides support for CGIAR genebanks to adopt GRIN-Global and 
supports a dedicated GRIN-Global staff post at the International 
Maize and Wheat Improvement Center (CIMMYT) known as the 

Frontrunner. GRIN-Global has been adopted or is being evaluated 
by 28 international and national genebanks.
 
Regional training workshops are an effective way of bringing new 
technical knowledge to more genebanks. Several courses on 
information systems were held in 2017. One was held in the Czech 
Republic in August, in collaboration with the European Cooperative 
Programme for Plant Genetic Resources (ECPGR). Another 
workshop was held at CIMMYT in Mexico for CGIAR genebank 
data managers and staff. It included training on advanced use 
of GRIN-Global and its development, and on uploading data to 
Genesys. Other GRIN-Global training workshops were organized 
in Colombia and Mexico.

WHAT  
WE DO

Number of accession records  
updated in Genesys in 2016:  

2,907,006

A genebank staff member from the 
International Center for Tropical Agriculture 
(CIAT) with an ID marker for common bean in 
Cali, Colombia. Photo: Shawn Landersz 
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QUALITY MANAGEMENT 
SYSTEMS

In today’s competitive world, genebanks need to assure 
donors, partners, and users that germplasm data and 
facilities are being managed at maximum efficiency, 
while minimizing risk. In the past, this assurance has 
come from the trust built up between a genebank and 

its users over many years of requests and distributions of 
germplasm. More recently, a framework in the form of a 
quality management system (QMS) has been created to 
provide the assurance that quality and risk management 
standards are being met in genebanks. 

The Crop Trust’s QMS initiative, funded through the CGIAR 
Genebank Platform, is based on a common framework 
that includes in-depth technical assistance and exchanges, 
standardized templates and auditing. In 2017, it focused on 
completing the documentation of genebank standard operating 
procedures (SOPs). The average genebank identified eight or 

more SOPs to document its wide range of processes, covering 
activities such as acquisition, seed health testing, information 
management and germplasm distribution. Through its audit 
system, the initiative is reviewing the SOPs to ensure they adhere 
to relevant standards, policies and best practices.

Over the course of the year, the Crop Trust QMS specialist, Janny 
van Beem, visited a number of genebanks for a “QMS intensive.” 
These visits of up to ten days aim to examine QMS-related 
issues and suggest improvements. One of the exercises during 
QMS intensives is to find ways to improve efficiency in genebank 
operations. The intensives provoke animated discussion, 
comparison with other approaches, and thoughts about what 
could be done differently. It has been important to take an 
approach that ensures that working on QMS provides a positive, 
motivational experience for all involved.

Genebanks need a common language that allows them to provide 
evidence of efficiency in their methods and effectiveness in meeting their 
improvement goals. A quality management system provides them with 
robust tools to meet these needs.

Janny van Beem 
Crop Trust QMS Specialist 
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GOAL WORKSHOPS

The Genebank Operations and Advanced 
Learning (GOAL) workshops are one of the 
most important components of the QMS 
initiative. These events attract staff from 
international and national genebanks. 

As well as providing instruction, they also 
help foster the professional community 
and partnerships that are essential for a 
global system of crop conservation. Two 
GOAL workshops were held in 2017. 
The Crawford Fund workshop in Kuala 
Lumpur, Malaysia attracted 28 participants 
from 14 centers. The Germplasm Health 

Units workshop held in Brussels, Belgium 
brought together 20 GHU staff, 19 from 
CGIAR centers and one from a national 
center.

Genebank staff at the International Potato Center 
(CIP) in Lima, Peru maintain clonal and seed 

collections of potato, sweetpotato, and Andean 
roots and tubers. CIP’s in vitro genebank is the one 

of the largest in the world . Photo: Luis Salazar

Standard operating procedures mapped since 2015: 107

Staff trained in QMS since 2015: 359
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GOVERNANCE

The Crop Trust began 
2017 by welcoming a new 
member to its Executive 
Board, Marcio de Miranda 
Santos, a Brazilian agnomist 

who currently leads the Center of 
Management and Strategic Studies 
(CGEE). Marcio joined his fellow Board 
Members at the first meeting of the 
year, held at the International Rice 
Research Institute (IRRI) in Los Baños, 
the Philippines.

MEETING IN MARCH: 
 
In Los Baños, members expressed 
strong support for a more diversified 
fundraising approach and encouraged 
the development of partnerships between 
public and private spheres. The Board 
also appointed Onno Steenbeek of All 
Pensions Group Asset Management, 
and Steven Lainoff, former Principal-in-
Charge at KPMG’s Complex Transactions 
Group, as new members to the Finance 
and Investment Committee (FIC). This 
is the body responsible for advising the 
Executive Board on matters of financial 
management, chaired by John Gondolfo, 
Director and Chief Investment Officer, 
Pension and Endowments, The World 
Bank.

The gathering also provided a chance for 
members to tour the IRRI genebank and 
to witness the important work going on 
in what is one of the largest collections of 
rice diversity in the world.

BACK IN BONN IN 
AUTUMN

In addition to the adoption of the Crop 
Trust’s Responsible Investment Policy, 
amongst other topics, this meeting was 
a special one as we said farewell to long-
time Crop Trust supporter and Executive 
Board Chair, Ambassador Walter Fust. 
 
Walter Fust was an early advocate for 
the Crop Trust and served on the Interim 
Panel of Eminent Experts, which acted as 
the interim Board of the Crop Trust prior 
to the establishment of the Executive 
Board in 2004. Fust was first elected to the 
Executive Board in 2010, and has been 
the Chairperson since 2013. He retired 
after eight years on the Executive Board, 
the maximum period of time permitted by 
the Crop Trust Constitution, and a clear 
illustration of his passion for crop diversity.
To celebrate his service, the Crop Trust 
secretariat hosted a dinner where we 
thanked Walter for his time on the 
Executive Board and congratulated newly 
appointed Chair and former Vice Chair, 

Tim Fischer, as well as his replacement as 
Vice Chair, Sir Peter Crane.
 
“I express the Crop Trust’s deep appreciation 
to Walter for his amazing support throughout 
the lifetime of the organization. Walter has 
been a steadfast champion of the Crop Trust 
and it has indeed been an honor to work 
closely with him over the years. I am deeply 
grateful for his dedication and service to our 
organization.
 
At the same time, we are excited to welcome 
Tim Fischer as our new Board Chair who 
brings with him 40 years of experience in 
politics and diplomacy. Tim has been directly 
involved in agricultural affairs both globally 
and in his native Australia for many years, 
and is uniquely positioned to assume the 
post of the Crop Trust’s third Executive Chair.  
I congratulate Tim on his appointment and 
look forward to working with him.”

Marie Haga
Crop Trust Executive Director



CROP TRUST

03  CROP TRUST 35

03

  CROP TRUST 2017 ANNUAL REPORT

In between the two annual meetings, the 
Board approved a proposal for a EUR 50 
million concessional loan from the German 
Development Bank (KfW). The German 
Federal Ministry of Economic Cooperation 
and Development (BMZ) provided a 
grant, along with the Government of 
the Netherlands, to further reduce the 
interest rate to a concessional effective 
rate of 0.5% over the loan’s 15-year term. 

The loan, which was officially signed in 
October 2017, temporarily increases the 
value of the endowment fund, generating 
a higher annual return and helping the 
Crop Trust reach its endowment goal of 
USD 850 million.
 

THE DONORS’ 
COUNCIL

The two meetings of the Donors’ Council 
in 2017 took place in Rome in March 
and October. In its second meeting, the 
Donor’s Council re-appointed Alexander 
Mueller, Managing Director of Töpfer 
Müller Gaßner, a sustainability think tank, 
to the Executive Board for a second term 
of three years and elected Emmy Bartz 
Simmons, an independent consultant on 
international development issues, for her 
first term, which began in January 2018.
At the same time, the Netherlands was 
re-appointed as Chair of the Donors’ 
Council for one further term of three 
years, and Germany was re-appointed as 
Vice Chair for a further term of two years.

Crop Trust Executive Board Member, DR 
Prem Lal Guatam and Executive Director, 

Marie Haga, in rice regeneration fields at the 
International Rice Research Institute (IRRI) 

during the first 2017 Executive Board Meeting. 
Photo: Shawn Landersz
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In 2017, we welcomed two new staff members: Dr. Nora 
Castañeda-Alvarez, Genesys Catalog Coordinator, and 
Michael Major, Science Communication Specialist.

As we welcomed new colleagues, we also introduced a 
new initiative to foster education and excitement in the office 
– known internally as “brown bag seminars.” These one-hour 
lunchtime chats led by different team members provide all 
staff, particularly new ones, with insights into the different 
aspects of the work of the Crop Trust. The seminars, which 
can cover everything from breeding to communications to 
financing mechanisms, serve as a platform for colleagues to 
share their knowledge and expertise with their peers, followed 
by an open dialogue. 
 
In 2017, we also began organizing group visits to different 
partners and genebanks, including the Bioversity International 
banana genebank in Leuven, Belgium, and the University of 
Bonn’s experimental station in the district of Klein-Altendorf, 
where we toured a rice wild relative experiment. These 
activities help to reinforce the impetus for our work and bring 
colleagues together outside the office.

PARTNERING WITH RHODES 
COLLEGE

2017 marked the sixth year of our partnership with Rhodes 
College in Memphis, Tennessee, USA. Each year since 2012, 
Rhodes has funded one recent graduate to work at the Crop 
Trust through the Cary Fowler ’71 Environmental Studies 
International Fellowship. Each fellow has brought their own 
spirit, skills, and interests to the position, and each one has 
been a tremendous benefit to the organization. We are 
grateful for the opportunity to engage in such a productive 
relationship and thank Rhodes College for its support.

The fifth individual to participate in this fellowship program, 
Amanda Fuller, completed her assignment with the 
Partnerships and Communications team in July 2017. In 
August, Adrienne Bober officially joined us in Bonn as the 
2017-2018 Fellow, working for the Partnerships team.

HUMAN  
RESOURCES

While the Crop Trust’s secretariat remains relatively small in 
number, we continue to make a big difference in the world 
of crop conservation.
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It has been one of our joys to be involved with two important 
organizations – Rhodes College and the Crop Trust – and to have the 
ability to join them together to provide both with great opportunities 
for wonderful graduates and assistance to the important goal of crop 
security. We have enjoyed getting to know the fellows, seeing them 
grow, and seeing them produce results. We look forward to following 
what they do in the future.

Steven & Riea Lainoff
Sponsors of the “Fowler Fellowship”.
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EVENTS

We kicked off the year by hosting a 
Ministerial Luncheon alongside the 
2017 Global Forum for Food and 
Agriculture (GFFA) in Berlin, Germany. 
In line with the theme for the 2017 

GFFA event – Agriculture and Water – the Luncheon 
looked at the role of agricultural biodiversity in helping 
farmers cope with water shortages. Governments 
were informed about the effects of climate change on 
water availability, the need to adapt agricultural water 
use to a changing climate, and the work that the Crop 
Trust and its partners are undertaking to achieve 
this. The keynote presentation was given by Dr. David 
Bergvinson, Director General of the International 
Crops Research Institute for the Semi-Arid Tropics 
(ICRISAT) and made the case for allocating government 
resources to protect crop diversity in genebanks and 
support international efforts for crop conservation. 

For such a small team, our staff manage to take the Crop Trust’s mission far and 
wide. From Bonn to Bogota, Kigali to Stockholm and many destinations in between, 
we expanded and diversified our audience and network of partners in 2017.

As part of the Agriculture Advantage series 
of side events at COP23, experts discussed 

tapping into genetic diversity for food security 
in a 4 degrees warmer world at the Crop Trust 

offices in Bonn. 
Photo: Michael Major
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ENGAGING THE PRIVATE SECTOR

Back in Berlin a few months later, we switched gears, this time 
engaging the private sector in an expert panel discussion organized 
in conjunction with the G20 meetings. Made up of representatives 
from the Colombian Coffee Growers Federation, the African 
Development Bank, Deutsche Asset Management and others, the 
panel discussion looked at how we might move “beyond talk,” and 
put private capital to work for the future of sustainable agriculture.
 
“The private sector is an essential stakeholder in the Crop Trust’s work, 
as seeds are conserved and distributed with the ultimate purpose of 
producing food,” said Marie Haga, Crop Trust Executive Director. 

“Food and agriculture companies depend on the availability of diverse 
crops as a foundation for their business. I am happy to say that many 
business leaders want to invest in this work, but they need our help.”
 

THE LAUNCH OF FOOD FOREVER

The follow-up to this dialogue occurred at the EAT Stockholm Food 
Forum a couple of weeks later, where we launched Food Forever 
Initiative. It was established to raise awareness of work being 
done around the world to meet Target 2.5 of the United Nations 
Sustainable Development Goals – the maintenance of agricultural 
biodiversity. A big thank you to the EAT Foundation for including 
Food Forever in the Forum.

UNFCCC COP 23
As the leaves were starting to change color in Bonn, so was 
the landscape around our offices in preparation for UNFCCC 
COP23. Pavilions went up along the Rhine, a new train station was 
built and red carpets were laid, as thousands of diplomats and 
Ministers assembled in Bonn.
 
Located at the heart of the events, we co-hosted four of the eight 
UNFCCC COP23 side events, at the Crop Trust secretariat under the 
Agriculture Advantage series. Led by the CGIAR Research Program 
on Climate Change, Agriculture and Food Security (CCAFS), the 
Agriculture Advantage series was a collaborative effort between 
organizations dedicated to transforming agricultural development 
in the face of climate change. The series linked multiple side events 
taking place during the two weeks of COP23 into a single theme.
 
The events we hosted were: The Opening and Context Setting, 
the Gender Advantage, the Policy Advantage, and the Breeding 
Advantage. We also led a Food Forever side event: Food Biodiversity 
for Greater Climate Resilience. 

During the Breeding Advantage event, Charlotte Lusty, Crop Trust 
Head of Programs and Genebank Platform Coordinator , said: 

“Agriculture must transform over the next 30 years to avoid mass 
famine. We need to produce 60% more food to make this happen, and 
adaptation of crops will play a major role in this. We don’t know the 
full value of what we are conserving in genebanks, nor do we know 
the full extent of what challenges we will face in the future. Genebanks 
provide us with many options moving forward, no matter what the 
future holds.”
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FACT #1:
The Svalbard Global Seed Vault attracts the interest of 
audiences that otherwise would not stop to think about the 
importance of crop diversity or the role it plays in all of our 
lives. Be it through high-profile media articles, or our website 
and social media channels, the Vault’s coverage opens the 
door (and eyes of many) to the work we do beyond that 
cavern full of seeds inside an Arctic mountain.

FACT #2
Within the global conservation efforts carried out towards 
safeguarding crop diversity, the Seed Vault’s role is a small 
but vital one. It provides a secure backup for many of the 
world’s crop collections. For us, telling the bigger story is 
more challenging. But often, it is also much more exciting.
 
For example, we began 2017 up in the Andean mountains, 
at 3,200 meters above sea level, documenting a week-long 
training course on seed collecting and conservation. We 
ended the year with two week-long expeditions hunting 
for crop wild relatives of rice, potato and eggplant, among 
others – the first took us to Bengal tiger territory in the 
Chitwan National Park, Nepal; the second to a snake-
infested tropical forest in the province of Napo, Ecuador. It is 

SPREADING 
THE MESSAGE 

I would like to see a scientist who says: do not conserve 
those samples because they probably won’t be valuable in 
the future (laughter). 

Nikolay Dzubenko
Director of the N.I. Vavilov Institute of Plant Genetic Resources (VIR)
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with respect and admiration that we showcase the dedication of 
our many national partners who go out into the remote corners 
of the world, where the wild cousins of our food crops grow.

The same is true when we highlight the work of those colleagues 
at the international genebanks of CGIAR, that we support 
through the Genebank Platform – those women and men directly 
responsible for safeguarding and making available the world’s 
largest collections of crop diversity. Case in point: in 2017 we 
visited ICARDA, in Lebanon and Morocco, to follow-up on their 
2015 retrieval of seeds from the Svalbard Global Seed Vault, and 
their ongoing work to re-establish genebank operations.
 
2017 also gave us the opportunity to explore the world 

of genebank users. We documented projects where our 
pre-breeding partners are teasing out useful traits in crop wild 
relatives that our domesticated crops badly need to adapt to 
a changing climate. The resulting stories focused on carrots, 
eggplant, sweetpotato and lentils. 

FACT #3

In our job we mostly answer the ‘what’ and the ‘why’ questions. 
We inform our various audiences of what the Crop Trust staff 
and our colleagues around the globe are doing, and we do 
our best to make a case for the urgent need to conserve crop 
diversity, forever.

A close up of rice diversity at the 
International Rice Research Institute 

(IRRI) in Los Baños, Philippines. Photo: 
Shawn Landersz
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 A few examples:
• On World Hunger Day, together with HarvestPlus, we 

addressed the importance of biofortified crops and the role 
crop diversity plays in their development.

• We orchestrated media visits and coverage of the Seed 
Vault deposits, and ICARDA’s second withdrawal of seeds.

• A major milestone was the launch of the www.genebanks.
org website, the online home of the CGIAR Genebank 
Platform, which we started populating with stories like the 
overview of the 2017 Annual Genebank Meeting, held in 
Meise, Belgium.

• As part of the #CropsInColor photo-led storytelling 
campaign, funded in part by DuPont Pioneer, we published 
The Eternal Flame, which discusses how rice diversity can 
help speed up the cooking time of this vital crop, and how 
doing so on a global scale would help reduce use of wood, 
coal, gas and oil, and impact carbon emissions. We also 
published several interactive stories, including The Season 
Of Rewards, which showcased spectacular imagery to 
visually tie crop diversity to the realities of people living in 
Zambia and Madagascar.

• On World Coffee Day, we stated the worrisome but 
undeniable fact that “our daily cup of coffee is 
at risk from climate impacts unless urgent 
action is taken.” This was accompanied 
by a short awareness-raising, animated 
video.

Behind every successful endeavor stand 
individuals who have dedicated their 
lives to the conservation and use of 
crop diversity. Last year, we interviewed 
two influential figures: Nikolay Dzubenko, 
Director of the N.I. Vavilov Institute of 
Plant Genetic Resources (VIR), and Howarth 
“Howdy” Bouis, founder and former Director of 
HarvestPlus.
 
Additionally, our Global Patron, His Royal Highness the Prince of 

Wales, generously helped us announce the launch of the Food 
Forever Initiative.

FACT #4

Looking back at 2017, the Crop Trust communications team did 
what we do every year: we put on the many communications 
‘hats’ we must wear in order to highlight the dynamic world of 
crop diversity conservation.
 
One of the positive takeaways from last year was the further 
strengthening of relationships with the many partners with whom 
we collaborate in the telling of stories that engage our audiences. 
In 2017, these included CIAT, CIMMYT, CCAFS, ICARDA and 
HarvestPlus, with whom we strategically aligned communications 
outreach efforts, including:
                                                                                  
• Our participation at the UNFCCC COP23
• The release of our first science brief on zinc-biofortified 

wheat
 

FACT #5

All the work we highlight in our 
communications efforts is possible thanks 
to the support of our donors. And so, credit 
must be given where credit is due: last 
year the German Development Bank (KfW) 
provided a EUR 50 million concessional 
loan which temporarily increases the value 

of the Crop Trust endowment fund. This 
in turn will generate a higher annual return, 

and that means more money to support crop 
conservation around the world. And last but not 

least, we publicly announced and welcomed former 
Deputy Prime Minister of Australia, Tim Fischer, as our new 

Executive Board Chair.
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TAKE ACTION  
A LETTER FROM KNUT STORBERGET

Our partners are at work, and I am proud to say that the 
Crop Trust is with them, helping all it can.

The importance of crop diversity and the task 
of saving it is never easy to put into words. 
For me, it is something that I only fully 
comprehend when I see it in action. This year, 
I had more opportunities to meet collectors, 

plant breeders and farmers on the leading edge of 
agrobiodiversity conservation and use. Visiting Nepal, I 
spent time with our partners at the Nepal Agricultural 
Research Council (NARC) who are collecting critical 
diversity of crop wild relatives, the cousins of the plants 
that feed us all.

I am proud that their work is part of the Norwegian-funded 
Crop Wild Relatives Project that the Crop Trust is managing 
with the Millennium Seed Bank at Royal Botanic Gardens, 
Kew. As conservation missions go, it is no walk in the park. 
Imagine trekking eight hours through Bengal tiger territory, 
fighting off leeches, led by an elephant, in search of one tiny 
wild rice plant that may or may not be there. And that was 

only the first day! Eventually they found it. The perseverance 
of collectors is amazing.
All year, I thought about this perseverance, because for 
many people 2017 was a hard year. The weather and climate 
seemed unrelenting. Three hurricanes ravaged Texas, Florida 
and the Caribbean within four weeks. Continuing water crises 
gripped communities in East and Southern Africa. A million 
acres of California burned. Farmers in Bangladesh and 
Vietnam gave up their families’ land to advancing seawater 
and moved far away to lives of uncertainty.

These are enormous, landscape-level, even planetary-level 
problems, and it is not easy to see what power little seeds and 
pampered, domesticated plants have to stand against them. 
But all of us in the world of agro-biodiversity know that plants 
are far from powerless; they too find their way in the world.

Consider the Bermuda bean, a wild bean relative that evolved 
in Bermuda, developing a vigorous root system and the 
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ability to withstand hurricanes. Modern 
development has almost driven this 
unique species to extinction in its 
home, but its seeds are conserved in 
collections in Colombia and Peru and, 
as of 2017, in the Svalbard Global Seed 
Vault. This is just one special plant that 
bean breeders hope to draw on in 
better preparing the crop for weather 
and climate extremes.

It is beyond reckless to wipe this 
diversity out. Yet that is what humanity 
is doing – often unwittingly. In Nepal, 
I also visited sites where crop wild 
relatives once grew in abundance for 
thousands of years, but urban sprawl 
and aquaculture, among other forces, 
are destroying these habitats from one 
year to the next. It’s another reminder 
that the world is losing its biodiversity at 
frightening speed.

Nevertheless, I found many reasons 
for hope in Nepal. At a community 
seed bank, I met a farmer who brought 
back to his community a rice variety 
that they had long ago lost. I walked 
through rows of different rice plants 
in a “diversity field” maintained by the 
community, and I was welcomed into 
the house of another farmer who 
works with Nepalese crop breeders to 
develop better varieties using these 
landraces.

Collaboration is the guiding light of 
these efforts. At the Crop Trust, we 
have worked with a long list of partners 

since the beginning – because we know 
that collective and global action is the 
only path through the present era, 
an unknown terrain filled with its own 
kinds of tigers and leeches. None of us 
can find our way alone.

Our partners are at work, and I am 
proud to say that the Crop Trust is 
with them, helping all it can. We are 
raising an endowment fund that will 
sustain a global system of ex situ crop 
conservation, forever. We call this a 
“system” because all the pieces support 
one another, but it really describes a 
world of collective action – now and far 
into the future. 

As a part of the Crop Trust and a father 
of three amazing children, I call upon 
everybody to join this action. I do not 
know what the planet of my children’s 
children will look like but I know it will 
be challenging. Our generation must be 
the one to safeguard the crop diversity 
they will need to ensure theirs is a future 
with options, adaptive capacity and the 
tools to keep agriculture alive. Let us 
join with the collectors, plant breeders, 
maintainers of community seed banks 
and genebanks, and farmers in every 
country, and each find what we can do 
to be part of the great task of our time.
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The world’s farmers have a 
vitally important job to do: 
sustainably produce enough 
nutritious food for a growing 
world population in spite of 

challenges like climate change.  

Many researchers know that crop diversity 
is part of the solution. After all, it is through 
crop diversity that scientists and farmers 
can tap into the accumulated wisdom of 
nature and 13,000 years of agriculture to 
produce more productive, resilient food 
crops. But in order to fulfill its potential, 
this diversity has to be safeguarded and 
made available to all – before it is lost 
forever.

Yet, despite its importance, no one is 
obliged to safeguard it. Instead, the Crop 
Trust and its partners choose to. In 2017, 
this work took many forms, from big global 
initiatives to smaller, local interventions.  

A key moment was the launch of the 
Crop Trust-led CGIAR Genebank Platform, 
a USD 31 million-a-year program that 
supports CGIAR’s 11 international 
genebanks. These facilities safeguard 
the collections of some of world’s most 
important food crops, sharing them with 
breeders, researchers and farmers. It’s 
an initiative that will help ensure that this 
work continues to be robust and effective.

In August 2017, the national genebank in 
war-torn Yemen experienced problems 

with its cooling unit, which could have 
led to the loss of more than 6,000 crop 
accessions. The Crop Trust acted swiftly 
to fund the purchase of a new engine for 
the unit, and save the seeds. It was one of 
several local interventions we made last 
year that had a big impact.

In 2017, we were also able to strengthen 
and expand the global community helping 
to conserve crop diversity. While this is 
already an innovative, dedicated group 
of people, we were delighted to bring 
onboard new partners, and continue to 
build the secure foundation that our food 
supply needs.

We do this, in large part, through our 
endowment fund, which recorded an 
unprecedented 17.4% return in 2017. 
The value of the fund now stands at USD 
285 million. The returns are being used 
to support crop conservation activities all 
over the world, including the operations 
of the Svalbard Global Seed Vault  – the 
largest collection of crop diversity in the 
world.

None of our work would have been 
possible without our donors, who 
understand that long-term solutions need 
long-term commitments. We are deeply 
grateful to longstanding supporters like 
the governments of Australia, Germany, 
Norway and the United States, and more 
recent donors like the governments of the 
Czech Republic, New Zealand, the Republic 

of Korea, and India. But there is still much 
more work to do. Many more genebanks 
need our help; important crop diversity is 
at risk from urbanization, deforestation, 
pollution and war. If we lose them, there is 
no bringing them back. 

That’s why the Crop Trust remains 
committed to building up its endowment 
fund to USD 850 million. A fund of this 
size would ensure the conservation of all 
essential food crops in genebanks forever. 
It’s a big number, but tiny compared to the 
benefits it will bring. I only recently joined 
the Crop Trust, but I firmly believe we can 
achieve it, as we continue to bring on new 
partners, all committed to safeguarding 
crop diversity.

Our host country, Germany, generously 
provided the Crop Trust with many forms 
of support in 2017, of which I will give 
three key examples. First, they funded a 
new component for the Genesys online 
database for recording accessions in the 
world’s genebanks.  By making genebanks 
more easily searchable for specific traits, 
this new component of Genesys should 
enable vitally important crop improvement 
work to be faster, more efficient and more 
effective. Also, the German development 
bank KfW provided a EUR 50 million 
concessional loan to the Crop Trust. This 
was invested following the UN Principles 
of Responsible Investment, and in line with 
our Responsible Investment Policy. Thirdly, 
the German government contributed 

THANK YOU 
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a further sum of EUR 5.4 million to the 
endowment fund. 

The endowment fund was further boosted 
by a contribution of USD 3.7 million from 
the United States of America, under the 
US Farm Bill, and we are extremely grateful 
for this continued support from the USA. 

We received support from many others 
last year: The governments of Norway, the 
Netherlands and Switzerland backed the 
Food Forever initiative, which launched in 
June as a global push for action on United 
Nations Sustainable Development Goal 2.5 
– which calls for maintaining agricultural 
biodiversity. The Crop Trust, jointly with 
the Government of the Netherlands, 
provides the secretariat for Food Forever, 
with the aim of bringing the issue to the 
attention of a much wider audience.

There were also, of course, supporters like 
the Aurora Borealis Foundation, DuPont 
Pioneer, and the wonderful individuals 
who sent donations through our website. 
Every contribution, large and small moves 
us closer to achieving our goal.

We thank you all for your support, 
for understanding the urgency of 
safeguarding crop diversity, and for 
sharing our commitment to resilient, 
sustainable agriculture. We have chosen 
to take on this responsibility jointly, and 
I look forward to continuing to work 
together for the future of our food.

Sebastian Winkler
Crop Trust Head of Partnerships 

A genebank staff member at the field 
genebank of the International Institute 
of Tropical Agriculture (IITA) in Ibadan, 

Nigeria. Photo: Shawn Landersz 
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THE ENDOWMENT FUND
At the heart of the Crop Trust’s work is the permanent, self-
sustaining endowment fund. Each year, a portion of the fund’s 
value is paid out to ensure that the crop diversity held in genebanks 
is conserved and maintained. The Crop Trust is working to reach 
the fund’s target size of USD 850 million. 
 
The endowment fund had a successful year in 2017 with its value 
rising from USD 188 million in 2016 to USD 285 million. This was 
due to new contributions received from donors, the finalization 
of a concessional loan from the German Development Bank, KfW, 
and investment gains made on the capital markets. 

Investment gains, net of investment manager fees, amounted to 
USD 28.4 million during the year with an annual return of 17.4%. 
While this is an excellent investment return for the year, the 
objective for the Crop Trust endowment portfolio is that it is highly 
diversified and structured for the long-term so that short-term 
market dislocations, whether positive or negative, do not trigger 
structural changes to the asset allocation of the portfolio. Further 
donor pledges were received in 2017, which we expect to result 
in additional contributions during 2018.

The investment objectives and policies of the Crop Trust permit 
the annual withdrawal of up to 4% of the average market value of 
the endowment fund over the previous 12 quarters. In 2017, 3.6% 
(USD 6.7 million) was withdrawn from the endowment fund of 
which 96% was provided in long-term grants to the international 
genebanks of CGIAR. Combined with a bilateral contribution 
from GIZ, the total contribution to CGIAR amounted to USD 6.75 
million - up from USD 2.4 million in 2016. In 2018, this annual 
contribution to CGIAR will rise to USD 9 million.
 

RUNNING THE NUMBERS



FINANCIAL

05  FINANCIAL 53

05

  CROP TRUST 2017 ANNUAL REPORT

Since 2014, the Crop Trust has been an official signatory to the 
United Nations Principles for Responsible Investment (UNPRI), 
an international framework for incorporating sustainability into 
investment decision-making.
 
A new, Executive Board-approved Responsible Investment Policy 
was developed and implemented in 2017, the purpose of which is 
to ensure the Crop Trust’s investment portfolio is aligned with its 
overall mission.
 

PROGRAM AND OPERATIONAL 
EXPENDITURE

In addition to building up the Endowment Fund, the Crop Trust 
supports the world’s most important collections of crop diversity 
with annual funding. This includes time-bound projects and long-
term programs targeted at conserving crops in genebanks.
 
Cost-effectiveness is vital in order for the Crop Trust to continue 
to earn the trust of its donors. In 2017, the Crop Trust secretariat 

incurred expenditures for management and general services of 
USD 1.4 million, or 3.9% of total direct expenditures of the Crop 
Trust.  Fundraising expenditure amounted to USD 0.35 million 
or 0.9% of total direct expenditure.  This represents a reduction  
in overall operational expenditure from 5.3% in 2016 to 4.8% in 
2017.

FINANCIAL AUDIT AND 
ADOPTION OF IFRS
In 2017, PricewaterhouseCoopers performed an external audit 
of the Crop Trust’s financial statements for the fifth consecutive 
year.  In conjunction with the regular audit procedures, PwC were 
engaged by the Crop Trust to provide advice and audit services 
for the conversion of the financial statements to full International 
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) for the year to 31 December 
2017. 
 
This has resulted in a significant change to the structure, 
terminology, disclosures and format of the financial statements. 
PwC has issued an unqualified audit opinion with no management 
letter points identified, as in prior years.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED - 31 DECEMBER 2017

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS 
REPORT
To the Global Crop Diversity Trust, Bonn

We have audited the annual financial state-
ments of Global Crop Diversity Trust, Bonn, 
(“Crop Trust”) which comprise the state-
ment of financial position as at December 
31, 2017, and the statement of activity and 

other comprehensive income, statement of changes in net 
assets and statement of cash flows for the year then end-
ed, and notes to the annual financial statements, including a 
summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the accompanying annual financial statements 
present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of 
the Global Crop Diversity Trust as at December 31, 2017, and its 
financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended 
in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 
(IFRSs), as issued by the IASB.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International 
Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities under those 
standards are further described in the “Auditor’s Responsibilities 
for the Audit of the Annual Financial Statements” section of our 
report. We are independent of the Crop Trust in accordance with 
the ethical requirements of the German professional provisions 
that are relevant to our audit of the annual financial statements 
in Germany, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities 
in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the 
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our opinion.

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with 
Governance for the Annual Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair 
presentation of the annual financial statements in accordance 
with IFRSs, as issued by the IASB, and for such internal control as 
management determines is necessary to enable the preparation 
of annual financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the annual financial statements, management is 
responsible for assessing the Crop Trust’s ability to continue 
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to 
going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting 
unless management either intends to liquidate the Crop Trust or 
to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing 
the Crop Trust’s financial reporting process.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Annual 
Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether 
the annual financial statements as a whole are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an 
auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance 
is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit 
conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material 
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud 
or error and are considered material if, individually or in the 
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the 
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these annual 
financial statements.
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As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional 
judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the 
audit. We also:

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of 
the annual financial statements, whether due to fraud or 
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to 
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of 
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is 
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve 
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, 
or the override of internal control.

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the 
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate 
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing 
an opinion on the effectiveness of the Crop Trust’s internal 
controls.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used 
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related 
disclosures made by management.

• Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the 
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit 
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists 
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt 
on the Crop Trust’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we 
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to 
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures 
in the annual financial statements or, if such disclosures are 
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based 
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s 
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the 
Crop Trust to cease to continue as a going concern.

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of 
the annual financial statements, including the disclosures, 
and whether the annual financial statements represent the 
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves 
fair presentation.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, 
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit 
and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies 
in internal control that we identify during our audit.

Cologne, May 9, 2018

PricewaterhouseCoopers GmbH
Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft

Hans-Peter Kreibich  ppa. Thorsten Weigand
Wirtschaftsprüfer  Wirtschaftsprüfer

A cassava farmer n Sơn La Province, 
Vietnam. 
Photo: Getty Images Reportage 
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2017
(ALL FIGURES EXPRESSED IN THOUSANDS OF US DOLLARS)

NOTES 2017
USD’000

2016 
USD’000

AS AT 1 JAN 2016
USD’000 

ASSETS
  CURRENT ASSETS

Cash & cash equivalents 4 15,251 10,835 12,187
Receivable

Donor
Other

5
3,122

92
9

57
5,127

20
Prepaid expenses 6 943 778 191
Financial assets 16 4,250 - -

Total Current Assets 23,658 11,679 17,525

NON CURRENT ASSETS
Property, plant & equipment 7 18 - -
Intangible Assets 8 - 23 46
Financial Assets 16 285,025 187,963 157,402

Total Non Current Assets 285,043 187,986 157,448
TOTAL ASSETS 308,701 199,665 174,973

LIABILITIES 
  CURRENT LIABILITIES

Payable
Grants in advance
Other

9
11,490

315
3,090

293
7,126

158
Deferred Income 10 7,970 2,420 4,426
Accruals 11 258 159 155
Provisions 12 20 69 81

Total Current Liabilities 20,053 6,031 11,946
NON CURRENT LIABILITIES

Provisions 12 209 111 92
Borrowings 13 60,040 - -

Total non-current liabilities 60,249 111 92
TOTAL LIABILITIES 80,302 6,142 12,038

NET ASSETS 15
Unrestricted 5,572 5,560 5,559
Permanently restricted net assets 222,827 187,963 157,376

Total net assets 228,399 193,523 162,935

TOTAL LIABILITIES & NET ASSETS 308,701 199,665 174,973
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STATEMENT OF ACTIVITY & OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2017
(ALL FIGURES EXPRESSED IN THOUSANDS OF US DOLLARS)

2017 2016

NOTES UNRESTRICTED
TEMPORARY 
RESTRICTED

PERMANENTLY 
RESTRICTED TOTAL UNRESTRICTED TEMPORARY RESTRICTED PERMANENTLY RESTRICTED TOTAL

USD'000 USD'000 USD'000 USD'000 USD'000 USD'000 USD'000 USD'000

Revenue and gains 19 

Grant Revenue  1,475 30,225 31,700 839 30,189 - 31,028
Contribution to 
Endowment Fund

- - 13,093 13,093 - - 23,974 23,974

Contribution to Loan 
Interest

- - 104 104 - - - -

Other Revenue 13 - - 13 605 - - 605
Other Income and gains 151 - - 151 67 - - 67

Total revenue and gains 1,639 30,225 13,197 45,061 1,511 30,189 23,974 55,674

Expenses and losses 20

Program direct expenses - (30,225) (6,532) (36,757) - (30,189) (2,256) (32,445)
Management and general 
expenses

(1,274) - (150) (1,424) (993) - (194) (1,187)

Fundraising expenses (353) - - (353) (517) - - (517)
Total expenses and 
losses

(1,627) (30,225) (6,682) (38,534) (1,510) (30,189) (2,450) (34,149)

Finance Income and 
Expenditure 21 

Net gain on endowment 
fund 

- - 29,651 29,651 - - 10,193 10,193

FX revaluation gains - - 1,967 1,967 - - - -
FX revaluation (loss) - - (1,993) (1,993) - - - -
Investement Management 
Fees

- - (1,172) (1,172) - - (1,130) (1,130)

Interest on loan - - (104) (104) - - - -
Net Finance Income - - 28,349 28,349 - -- 9,063 9,063

 NET INCOME 12 - 34,864 34,876 1 - 30,587  30,588
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE 
INCOME FOR THE PERIOD

12 - 34,864 34,876 1 - 30,587 30,588
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2017 2016

NOTES UNRESTRICTED
TEMPORARY 
RESTRICTED

PERMANENTLY 
RESTRICTED TOTAL UNRESTRICTED TEMPORARY RESTRICTED PERMANENTLY RESTRICTED TOTAL

USD'000 USD'000 USD'000 USD'000 USD'000 USD'000 USD'000 USD'000

Revenue and gains 19 

Grant Revenue  1,475 30,225 31,700 839 30,189 - 31,028
Contribution to 
Endowment Fund

- - 13,093 13,093 - - 23,974 23,974

Contribution to Loan 
Interest

- - 104 104 - - - -

Other Revenue 13 - - 13 605 - - 605
Other Income and gains 151 - - 151 67 - - 67

Total revenue and gains 1,639 30,225 13,197 45,061 1,511 30,189 23,974 55,674

Expenses and losses 20

Program direct expenses - (30,225) (6,532) (36,757) - (30,189) (2,256) (32,445)
Management and general 
expenses

(1,274) - (150) (1,424) (993) - (194) (1,187)

Fundraising expenses (353) - - (353) (517) - - (517)
Total expenses and 
losses

(1,627) (30,225) (6,682) (38,534) (1,510) (30,189) (2,450) (34,149)

Finance Income and 
Expenditure 21 

Net gain on endowment 
fund 

- - 29,651 29,651 - - 10,193 10,193

FX revaluation gains - - 1,967 1,967 - - - -
FX revaluation (loss) - - (1,993) (1,993) - - - -
Investement Management 
Fees

- - (1,172) (1,172) - - (1,130) (1,130)

Interest on loan - - (104) (104) - - - -
Net Finance Income - - 28,349 28,349 - -- 9,063 9,063

 NET INCOME 12 - 34,864 34,876 1 - 30,587  30,588
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE 
INCOME FOR THE PERIOD

12 - 34,864 34,876 1 - 30,587 30,588
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN NET ASSETS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2017
(ALL FIGURES EXPRESSED IN THOUSANDS OF US DOLLARS)

UNRESTRICTED
PERMANENTLY

RESTRICTED TOTAL
USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 

Balance as at 1 January 2016 5,559 157,376 162,935

Total comprehensive income for the period 1 30,587 30,588

Balance as at 31 December 2016 5,560 187,963 193,523

Total comprehensive income for the period 12 34,864 34,876

BALANCE AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2017 5,572 222,827 228,399
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STATEMENT OF CASHFLOW
FOR THE YEAR ENDED AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2017
(ALL FIGURES EXPRESSED IN THOUSANDS OF US DOLLARS)

 2017 2016 
  USD'000  USD’000 

 Cashflows used in operating activities   

Total comprehensive income for the period 34,876 30,588
Adjustments to reconcile net cash provided by 
operating activities:
Depreciation 23 23 
Amortization of intangibles - -
Other non-cash Transactions (29,651) (10,193)
Decrease/(increase) in assets:

Receivable (3,148) 5,081
Prepaid expenses (165) (587)
Increase/(decrease) in liabilities:

Payable 8,422 (3,901)
Deferred Income 5,550 (2,006)
Accruals 99 4
Provisions 49 7
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities 16,055 19,016

Cash flows from investment activities 
Acquisition of equipment (18)
Purchase of Investments (87,282) (151,554)
Proceeds from maturity and sale of investments 17,588 131,186
Net cash provided by (used in) investment 
activities (69,712) (20,368)

Cash flows from financing activities

Cash inflow from  borrowing 58,047 -
Net cash (outflow) from financing activities 58,047 -

NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN CASH 4,390 (1,352)
Change in cash and cash equivalents due to changes in 
exchange rates 26 -

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the 
period 10,835 12,187

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END OF 
THE PERIOD 15,251 10,835
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017
(Expressed in United States dollars unless otherwise stated)

  
1. STATEMENT OF PURPOSE  
The Global Crop Diversity Trust (hereinafter referred to as the 
“Crop Trust” or the “Organization”) was established in October 
2004 as an independent organization under international 
law. This status was conferred on it through the signing of an 
Establishment Agreement by seven states from five of the regions 
referred to in the basic texts of the United Nations Food and 
Agriculture Organization. The international status of the Crop 
Trust is conferred under an Establishment Agreement, which has 
been signed by 28 countries.

As an independent international organization, the Crop Trust 
does not have any shareholders or parent. It is governed by a 
Executive Board. The headquarter of the Crop Trust is located at 
Platz der Vereinten Nationen 7, 53113 Bonn, Germany. 

These financial statements have been reviewed by the Finance & 
Investment Committee and were authorized for issue on  06 May 
2018 by the Executive Board of the Crop Trust.

Mission

The mission of the Crop Trust is to ensure the conservation and 
availability of crop diversity for food security worldwide. Crop 
diversity is central to food security. It underpins today’s production 
and provides the raw material needed for ensuring continuing 
supplies tomorrow, in the face of a rapidly changing world.

Crop collections require constant maintenance, and even brief 
disruptions or variations in funding can leave material at risk of 
permanent loss. The conservation of crop diversity in genebanks 
is a long-term task. Only stable, predictable support from an 
endowment fund can guarantee a global system of conservation 
for a shared resource that is too important for anything less than 
perpetual care.

Donors to the Crop Trust include governments from developing 

and developed countries, foundations, the private sector and 
individuals. Together donors have pledged over USD 450m to the 
Crop Trust’s work as at 31 December 2017.

The Crop Trust is building an endowment fund, the recurring 
income from which will be sufficient to guarantee the conservation 
and the ready availability of the biological foundation of all major 
agricultural crops, forever. It currently has USD 254,670k paid 
in (including a concessional loan) from a wide array of donors 
with a non-current endowment fund value of approximately 
USD 285,025k as at 31 December 2017. 95% of the endowment 
contributions received have been provided by Governments.

To date approximately USD 26,496k has been allocated by the 
Crop Trust to long-term grants with the CGIAR international 
research centers that hold the international crop collections. The 
Crop Trust also contributes to the operational costs associated 
with the running the Svalbard Global Seed Vault, in conjunction 
with our partners (the Government of Norway and the Nordic 
Gene Resource Centre). The support provided by the endowment 
fund comes solely from investment income earned. The actual 
contributions invested in the endowment funds are not drawn 
on. The fund allows the Crop Trust to fulfill its purpose: to create a 
permanent legacy of support for the key international collections 
of critical importance to our food supply.

Principal Activities of the Crop Trust Include:

1. Rescuing the seeds in endangered national crop collections;
2. Funding the ongoing maintenance of vital global crop 

collections;
3. Documenting the characteristics of conserved seeds so that 

collections are useful for plant breeders;
4. Sponsoring and improving global information systems for 

managing and sharing crop genetic data, massively enhancing 
access, and therefore options, for plant breeders everywhere. 
Part of this work is being done in collaboration with USDA;

5. Funding of the ultimate safety back-up facility - the Svalbard 
Global Seed Vault deep in the Arctic permafrost - in which 
currently 890,886 duplicates of the world’s seed collections are 
being stored, originating from every country on earth.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
Basis of Preparation 

The financial statements of the Crop Trust are prepared in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 
(IFRS) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board 
(IASB).

These are the first financial statements that have been prepared 
in accordance with IFRS. As the Crop Trust was not required to 
prepare financial statements in previous years no reconciliations 
to previous GAAP financial statements are presented.

The financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost 
basis except for investments that have been measured at fair 
value. The financial statements are presented in thousands of 
US dollars (USD ‘000) and all values are rounded to the nearest 
thousands, except when otherwise indicated.

In accordance with Article 9 of the Headquarters Agreement, the 
Crop Trust is tax exempt.

The significant accounting policies followed are described below.

2.1 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and cash equivalents comprise of contributions and grants 
in advance received together with related interest earned. 
As contributions for the endowment fund are permanently 
restricted, cash and cash equivalents at the year-end do not 
include contributions to the endowment fund. These are reported 
as  financial assets. 

Cash comprises of cash on hand, petty cash funds, and currencies 
awaiting deposit as well as local or foreign currency deposits 
in banks which are immediately available for use in current 
operations. 

Cash equivalents are short-term, highly liquid investments that 
are both readily convertible to known amounts of cash, and when 
nearing their maturity date there is insignificant risk of changes in 
value arising from changes in interest rates. In general terms, only 
investments with original maturities of three months or less will 
qualify under this definition.

2.2 RECEIVABLE
Donors

These are claims held against debtors for the future receipt of 
money. Receivables due from donors can arise from unrestricted, 
temporarily restricted and permanently restricted grants that 
have been agreed between the Crop Trust and the Donor. 
Receivables relating to unrestricted, temporarily restricted and 
permanently restricted grants are recorded once the donor 
signed an irrevocable agreement to provide the grant to the Crop 
Trust. Receivables are carried at the lower of amortized cost or 
the estimated future cash flows.

The Crop Trust assesses whether there is objective evidence that 
the receivables are impaired at the end of each reporting period. 

The allowance method is used to provide for doubtful accounts 
and is calculated as an amount equal to the total receivables 
shown, or reasonably estimated to be doubtful of collection. 
The amount in the allowance is based on past experience and 
on a continuous review of receivable reports and other relevant 
factors. When an account receivable is deemed doubtful of 
collection, an allowance is provided during the year the receivable 
is deemed doubtful. Any receivable, or portion of receivable 
judged to be un-collectible is written off. Write-offs of receivables 
are done via allowance for doubtful accounts after all efforts to 
collect have been exhausted.

The Crop Trust did not have any doubtful accounts during the 
year.

2.3 PREPAID EXPENSES
Prepaid expenses are payments made in advance for goods 
and services related to project costs that have not yet occurred. 
The prepayment is released once the project costs have been 
expensed. If project costs are not incurred in the future, the 
prepaid expenses are subject to repayment. Other prepaid 
expenses also include licenses, subscriptions and insurance.   

2.4 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Office equipment and furniture are recorded at cost and 
depreciated over the estimated useful life of the respective asset 
(three to five years). The straight-line method is applied where 
the asset has an original cost greater than USD 2k. Items with 
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an original cost lower than this amount are charged directly to 
operating expenses in the Statement of Activities in the period in 
which they are incurred.

The depreciation charge for each period is recognized in the 
Statement of Activities as management and general expenses.

2.5 INTANGIBLE ASSETS
An intangible asset is an identifiable non-monetary asset without 
physical substance. Intangible assets are recognized if, and 
only if it is probable that the expected future economic benefit 
attributable to the asset will flow to the Crop Trust and the cost of 
the asset can be measured reliably.

An intangible asset is measured initially at cost. The cost of the 
separately acquired intangible asset comprises a) its purchase 
price and non-refundable purchase taxes and b) any direct 
attributable cost of preparing the asset for its intended use. The 
Crop Trust has no internally generated intangible assets only 
acquired intangible assets.

Intangible assets are amortized over the estimated useful life 
of the respective asset,  between 3 to 5 years, on a straight line 
basis. Amortization begins when the asset is available for use. 
Amortization ceases at the earlier of the date that the asset is 
classified as held for sale, and the date the asset is derecognized. 
The amortization charge for each period is recognized in the 
Statement of Activities as management and general expenses. 
The amortization period and the amortization method for 
intangible assets with a finite useful life are reviewed at least at 
each financial year end. 

The cost of the website development is recognized as an 
intangible asset in 2014. This asset is amortized over a three year 
estimated economic useful life commencing in January 2015 and 
concluding in 2017.

2.6 FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
Financial Assets relate primarily to a permanently restricted 
endowment fund established by the Crop Trust to support the 
effective conservation and ready availability of the biological basis 
of agriculture. The endowment fund is not a separate investment 
vehicle, it is a name used for diverse investments which are 

administered by two investment managers on behalf of the Crop 
Trust.  

The endowment fund investments are recorded at fair value. 
The fair value option was exercised due to applied fair value 
management approach. The fair value of financial assets is 
determined with reference to quoted market prices, observable 
market data and unobservable valuation inputs. Regular way 
purchases and sales of financial assets are recognized and 
derecognized using trade date accounting. Changes in the market 
value of the financial assets are reported as finance income in the 
Statement of Activities.

Finanial liabilities are borrowing, payables and accruals. 
Borrowings are classified as current liabilities with maturities of 
more than 3 months but not exceeding one year. Liabilities with 
the purpose of keeping them for more than one year from their 
acquisition date are to be classified as long-term borrowings. 

2.7 PAYABLES
These are the aggregate amount of short-term liabilities reflecting 
amounts owed in respect of goods, services and general 
expenditure relating to the operational activities of the Crop 
Trust received during the year, grants in advance for the year and 
grants payable. 

Payables are split into grants in advance and other payables. 
Grants in advance represent amounts that have been expensed 
by partners and are included as program expenditure in the 
Statement of Activities, however, the funds in this case have 
been received from the donors but have not yet been paid to 
the partners. Other payables include liabilties due to supplier for 
services to the Crop Trust. 

Paybles are stated at amortized costs.

2.8 DEFERRED INCOME
According to IAS 20.12 the deferred income represents amounts 
received from the Donor for which the related expense has not 
yet been incurred. Once the funds are expensed the deferred 
income is reduced with a corresponding recognition of revenue 
in the Statement of Activity. 
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The deferred income includes other income receivable that has 
not yet been expensed  and grants towards loan interest received 
that have not been expensed. 

2.9 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS
The Crop Trust provides the following employee benefits:

1. Short Term obligation - regular monthly benefits (wages, 
salaries, private medical), compensated absences (annual, 
medical, maternity/paternity leave) and other benefits 
(Education grant, Relocation grant - subject to terms and 
conditions) 

2. Post-employment benefits relate to repatriation grants and 
pension contributions; 

3. Other Long Term employee benefits include accumulated 
leave payable on separation; and 

4. Termination benefits include indemnities for voluntary 
redundancy payable once a plan has been formally approved.   

Employee benefits are usually expensed and recognized in the 
Statement of Activities in the period in which they occur. 

Leave obligations cover the Crop Trust’s liability for annual leave. 
In accordance with the Crop Trust’s Executive Board approved 
Personnel Policies & Procedures Manual (PPPM) annual leave 
earned in any calendar year may be accumulated; provided that 
the total amount of accrued annual leave to be carried forward 
at the end of the leave year shall not exceed 30 working days. 
Days over 30 are lost as of 31 December of each year unless the 
Executive Director approves retention because taking leave was 
not possible due to exigencies of service. Therefore all current 
annual leave obligations are expected to be settled within the 
next 12 months in the normal course of business.

The Crop Trust has established a defined contribution retirement 
fund with Zurich. For all regular employees, and in accordance 
with the PPPM, the Crop Trust shall make a contribution to the 
fund of up to 20% of the employee’s base salary. The employee 
may make additional voluntary contributions to the retirement 
plan. The Crop Trust has no further payment obligations once 
the contributions have been paid.  The employer contributions 
are recognized as an employee benefit and are recorded as an 
expense in the Statement of Activities when they fall due. 

2.10 PROVISIONS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 
Provisions are recognized when: 1) the Crop Trust has a present 
obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, 2) it is 
probable (i.e. more likely than not) that an outflow of resources 
embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the 
obligation, and 3) a reliable estimate can be made of the amount 
of the obligation. When the Crop Trust expects some or all of a 
provision to be reimbursed, the reimbursement is recognized as 
a separate asset, but only when the reimbursement is certain. The 
expense relating to a provision is presented in the Statement of 
Activity net of any reimbursement. 

A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from 
past events and whose existence will be confirmed only by the 
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future 
events not wholly within the control of the Crop Trust; or a present 
obligation that arises from past events but is not recognized 
because: i) it is not probable that an outflow of resources 
embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the 
obligation; or ii) the amount of the obligation cannot be measured 
with sufficient reliability. 

Included under provisions is an obligation to provide post-
employment benefits to employees for repatriation expenses 
upon separation from the Crop Trust. In accordance with the 
PPPM, for professional regular employees, the Crop Trust will 
pay the cost of transportation of personal effects and household 
goods from the employee’s residence in Bonn, Germany or other 
authorized location to the employee’s authorized home location 
or other authorized location.

2.11 NET ASSETS
Unrestricted net assets consist of contributions received from 
unconditional transfers of cash or other assets to the Crop Trust 
as well as other incomes. Unrestricted expenditure includes 
management and general expenditure not directly charged to 
projects and fundraising expenditure.

Permanently restricted net assets consist of contributions 
received from permanently restricted transfers of cash or other 
assets to the Crop Trust as well as income from the investment 
of such funds via the endowment fund. In accordance with the 
Investment Objectives and Policies approved by the Executive 



05  FINANCIAL66   CROP TRUST 2017 ANNUAL REPORT

Board of the Crop Trust, up to 4% of the average market value 
of the endowment fund over the previous twelve quarters may 
be withdrawn to cover program and operational expenses of 
the Crop Trust. Funds withdrawn are reported as permanently 
restricted expenses in the Statement of Activities and split 
between program expenditure and management and general 
expenditure as appropriate.  

2.12 Revenue Recognition
Contributions to the Crop Trust fall into three categories:

1. Unrestricted revenue and gains - revenue not subject to 
donor - imposed restrictions.

2. Temporarily restricted revenue and gains - revenue subject 
to donor - imposed time or use restrictions. 

3. Permanently restricted revenue and gains - revenue is 
subject to donor - imposed restrictions or specific conditions 
that the funds be invested in perpetuity. 

Unrestricted revenue and gains: 

Unconditional transfers of cash or other assets to the Crop Trust.

Unrestricted grant revenue consists of contributions  received 
from unconditional transfer of cash or other assets to the Crop 
Trust as well as other income. Those grants are recorded in 
full upon receipt of funds as contribution income in the period 
received in accordance with IAS 20 para. 20.

Other revenue consists of website donations whereas other 
income and gains include charges for services provided etc. 
Those two revenue streams are only recognized if they can 
be determined reliably and it is sufficiently probable that the 
economic benefit will flow to the Crop Trust.

Temporarily restricted revenue and gains: 

Transfer of resources to the Crop Trust for the implementation of 
specified projects.

Upon receipt of cash the funds are deferred until the specified 
project expense has been incurred (deferred income). When the 
Crop Trust recognizes the expense for the related project costs, 

the grant is recognized as income (IAS 20 para. 12). Unused funds 
at the end of a project are repaid to the donor. 

Temporarily restricted grants are recorded as income based 
upon satisfaction of restrictions. Restrictions are deemed satisfied 
upon expenditure of project costs for which contributions have 
been pledged based on the terms of the underlying contracts and 
additional agreements. 

Permanently restricted revenue and gains: 

At inception the Crop Trust was granted a non-reimbursable 
endowment fund. The initial contribution and subsequent 
contributions are recognized as income in the period received 
(IAS 20 para. 20). The investment returns on the endowment fund 
are recognized in accordance with IAS 39  in the Statement of 
Activities. 

2.13 Expenses and Losses
The activities of the Crop Trust have been summarized on a 
functional basis in the Statement of Activities. The costs have been 
allocated between program direct expenses (i.e. goods or services 
distributed to stakeholders that fulfill the purpose or mission for 
which the organization exists), management and general expenses 
(i.e. all activities other than program expenditure and fundraising 
which are indirectly related to the purposes for which the 
organization exists but necessary for its conduct) and fundraising 
expenses (i.e. salaries or services specifically related to fundraising 
activities). Expenses are allocated based on whether the expense 
is unrestricted, temporarily restricted or permanently restricted. 
Unrestricted expenses represent administrative and indirect 
costs not charged to projects or permanently restricted assets. 
Temporarily restricted expenses are those expenses charged as 
direct costs to projects. Permanently restricted costs are primarily 
amounts provided to centers to cover the routine operations of 
the genebanks and investment management fees.

Personnel expenses consist of salaries and other personnel 
related costs for Crop Trust staff and have been allocated on a 
functional basis.

Expenses are recorded on an accrual basis in the Statement of 
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Activities in the period in which the cost is incurred.

2.14 Foreign Currency Transactions
The Crop Trust conducts its operations in several currencies and 
maintains its accounting records in United States dollars (USD). 
The Crop Trust Financial Statements are prepared in USD, which 
is also the functional currency. 

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional 
currency using the UN monthly exchange rates prevailing at 
the dates of the transactions or valuation where items are 
re-measured. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from 
the settlement of such transactions and from the translation 
at year-end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities 
denominated in foreign currencies are recognized in the 
Statement of Activities. The average rate of exchange for 2017 
is 0.891 (USD/EUR) and the year-end exchange rate as at 31 
December 2017 is 0.837 (USD/EUR).

2.15 Management Estimates
Preparing the Crop Trust’s Financial Statements requires 
Management to make judgments, estimates, and assumptions 
that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets, 
and liabilities, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities, at the 
end of the reporting period. However, uncertainty about these 
assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that require 
adjustment to the carrying amount of the asset or liability in future 
periods.

The level of program expenditure recorded in the Statement of 
Activities includes information provided by partners up to the 
time of completion of the Crop Trust’s Financial Statements. In 
instances where there is no complete information from partners, 
management shall use judgment in estimating total program 
expenditure that results in information that is reliable (in that the 
financial statements represent faithfully the financial position, 
financial performance, and cash flows of the Crop Trust); reflect 
the economic substance of transactions, other events and 
conditions, and not merely the legal form; are neutral (i.e. free 

from bias) and are prudent. Management’s estimate of total 
program expenditure will be based on a signed contract and 
agreed budget with the partner.

Management has used judgement and has decided that this 
policy is preferable, because it results in the best estimate of 
expenditure incurred by partners based on the signed contracts 
and agreed budget, making the entity’s financial statement more 
reliable as it reflects a more prudent level of expenditure.

3. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
IAS10 Events After the Reporting Period contains requirements 
for events after the end of the reporting period which should 
be adjusted in the financial statements. Adjusting events are 
those providing evidence of conditions existing at the end of the 
reporting period, whereas non-adjusting events are indicative 
of conditions arising after the reporting period (the latter being 
disclosed where material).

The Organization has evaluated events and transactions up to 9 
May 2018 for potential recognition or disclosure in the financial 
statements. No subsequent events have been recognized or 
disclosed. 

4. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and cash equivalents as of 31 December 2017 consist of:

2017 2016
AS AT  

1 JAN 2016
USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 

Cash and Bank 
accounts in USD

14,753 9,892 12,041

Cash and Bank 
accounts in EUR

498 943 146

TOTAL 15,251 10,835 12,187

5. RECEIVABLE
Receivable - Donor

Receivables from donors consist of claims for expenses paid on 
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behalf of restricted projects in excess of the amount received and 
amounts receivable from donors towards loan interest payable. 
There were no amounts receivable from donors for claim for 
expenses paid on on behalf of restricted projects. Amounts  
receivable towards loan interest payable amounts to USD 3,122k. 
Donor receivables as at 31 December 2017 amounts to USD 
3,122k  (2016: USD 9k at 1.1.2016 USD 5,127k).

Receivable - Other

Other receivable of USD 92k consists mainly of VAT receivable 
in the amount of USD 57k received as at March 2018, and a 
formation capital loan of USD 28k made by the Crop Trust to its 
German charitable organization, Crop Trust Foundation gGmbH.

The following table provides the detail of receivables as at 31 
December 2017, 31 December 2016 and 1 January 2016. 

2017 2016
AS AT  

1 JAN 2016
USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 

Receivable Donor  

Australian Centre 
for International 
Agricultural 

- - 7

Bioversity/CGIAR - 9 5,120

Government of 
Germany

3,122 - -

Receivable Donor 3,122 9 5,127

Other  

VAT receivable 57 24 11

Other 35 33 9

Receivable - Other 92 57 20

TOTAL 3,214 66 5,147

The Crop Trust does not have any significant credit risk exposure 
as amounts receivable consist primarily of tax receivables and a 
formation capital loan to the Crop Trust Foundation. 

6. PREPAID EXPENSES
Total prepaid expenses as at 31 December 2017 amount to USD 
943k (2016: USD 778k; at 1.1.2016 USD 191k). Included in this 
balance is the amount of USD 866k for Genebank Equipment 
committed and paid but not yet delivered, USD 55k which 
represents a prepayment to Zurich for Disability, Life and Health 
insurance premium for 2018 and USD 22k with respect to prepaid 
expenses. Included in 2016 prepaid expenses was USD 702k for 
Genebank Equipment to AfricaRice which was committed and 
paid in 2016 and delivered to the new AfricaRice genebank in 
2017.

2017 2016
AS AT  

1 JAN 2016
USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 

Prepaid Expenses

Grants 866 702 146

Supplies & Services 77 76 45

TOTAL 943 778 191

7. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
In 2017 the Crop Trust purchased computer equipment 
amounting to USD 21k. Before this time the Crop Trust did not 
have property, plant or equipment over USD 2k per item and 
these costs were expensed.
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2017
USD’000

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

At 1 January 2016

Cost -

Accumulated amortization -
Net book value -

At 31 December 2016

Opening net book amount -
Additions -

Depreciation Charge -

Net book value -

At 31 December 2017

Opening net book amount -

Additions 21

Depreciation Charge (3)

Net book value 18

At 31 December 2017

Cost 21
Accumulated depreciation (3)

NET BOOK VALUE 18

8. INTANGIBLE ASSETS
Intangible assets as at 31 December 2017 consist of website 
development expenditure. Amortization is included under 
management and general expenses in the Statement of Activities.
 
 

TOTAL
USD’000

INTANGIBLE ASSET

At 1 January 2016

Cost 69

Accumulated amortization (23)
Net book value 46

At 31 December 2016

Opening net book amount 46
Amortization charge (23)

Net book value 23

At 31 December 2016

Cost 69

Accumulated amortization (46)

Net book value 23

At 31 December 2017                             18    

Opening net book amount 23

Amortization charge (23)
Net book value -

At 31 December 2017

Cost 69
Accumulated amortization (69)

NET BOOK VALUE -
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9. PAYABLE
This balance consists mainly of amounts relating to global system 
development genebank grants payable to genebanks in support 
of project activities and genebank operations. The amounts 
payable at the year-end in respect of global system development 
genebank grants, represents grants and contributions received 
in advance not yet disbursed. Grants in advance with respect 
to Genebanks amount to USD 11,490k (2016: USD 3,086k at 
1.1.2016 USD 7,122k) and these will be disbursed in early 2018.

The following table provides the detail of accounts payable as at 
31 December 2017, 31 December 2016 and 1 January 2016.

2017 2016
AS AT  

1 JAN 2016
USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 

Grants in Advance
Global system 
development genebank 
grants

11,490 3,086 7,122

Other program grants - 4 4

Total 11,490 3,090 7,126

Other
Supplies & services 211 293 158
Interst on loan payable 104 - -
Total 315 293 158

TOTAL 11,805 3,383 7,284

10. DEFERRED INCOME 
Deferred Income consists mainly of amounts received at the year-
end in respect of temporary restricted grants not yet disbursed 
and grants relating to loan interest not yet released. The total in 
relation to temporarily restricted grants amounts to USD 2,798k 
(2016: USD 2,379k; at 1.1.2016 USD 4,379k). The total relating to 
the  loan interest grant amounts to USD 5,149k see note 13 for 
further information. 

The following table provides details of deferred income as at 31 
December 2017, 31 December 2016 and 1 January 2016.

2017 2016
AS AT  

1 JAN 2016
USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 

Temporarily 
restricted grants

2,798 2,379 4,379

Grant for Loan 
interest 

5,149 - -

Other 23 41 47

TOTAL 7,970 2,420 4,426

11. ACCRUALS 
The following table provide details of accruals as at 31 December 
2017, 31 December 2016 and 1 January 2016.

2017 2016
AS AT  

1 JAN 2016
USD'000 USD'000 USD'000

Employee benefit 
payable

173 94 60

Accruals 85 65 95

TOTAL 258 159 155

Accruals include an amount for services received during 2017 of 
USD 85k (2016: USD 65k; at 1.1.2016 USD 95k) as well as other 
accruals and deferred income. Employee benefit payable consists 
of accrued leave obligations and amounts payable for employee 
pension contributions for the month of December 2017. The 
pension contribution payable amounts to USD 43k and relates 
to amounts due to the pension provider Zurich for employee 
defined benefit contributions that were held by the Crop Trust 
as the scheme was in the process of being transferred from 
LaMondiale to Zurich in December 2017. These funds will be paid 
to Zurich once the scheme is established in March 2018.

12. PROVISIONS
A provision for repatriation has been calculated based on the 
estimated costs of repatriating professional grade level staff to 
their home countries as specified in their appointment letters. 
The liability has been split between short term and long-term 
provisions in the Statement of Financial Position with short term 
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representing all obligations resulting from contracts that are 
ending within the next twelve months and long term those over 
twelve months.

In 2017 the repatriation provision increased by USD 49k (2016: 
USD 7k) represented by a reduction in short term provisions of 
USD 49k and an increase in long term provisions of USD 98K. 
This movement is recognized as an expense in the Statement 
of Activities and as an increase in liabilities in the Statement of 
Financial Positon.

The table below provides details of provisions as at 31 December 
2017, 31 December 2016 and at 1 January 2016.

SHORT 
TERM 

PROVISION

LONG 
TERM 

PROVISION TOTAL
 USD'000  USD'000 USD'000

At 1 January 2016

Opening balance - - -

Additions 81 92 173

Balance as at 1 
January 2016 81 92 173

At 31 December 
2016

Additon - 19 19

Release (12) -  (12)

Balance as at 31 
December 2016 69 111 180

At 31 December 
2017 -

Addition -  98  98

Release (49) - (49)

BALANCE AS AT 
31 DECEMBER 
2017

20 209 229

13. BORROWINGS
On 12 October 2017 the Crop Trust signed a concessional loan 
agreement with KfW, a development bank existing under the 
laws of the Federal Republic of Germany, for EUR 50,000k (USD 
58,047k) to contribute to the capitalization of the Endowment 
Fund of the Crop Trust and ultimately to contribute to long term 
food security by conserving and using plant genetic resources. 
The loan term is 15 years with a grace period of five years before 
loan repayments are due. The interest rate on the loan is 1.39%, 
however a grant from BMZ, the German Federal Ministry for 
Economic Co-operation and Development, of EUR 4,150k to repay 
the interest, and a contribution of EUR 225k from the Government 
of the Netherlands reduces the rate to an effective interest rate of 
0.5% over the course of the loan.

The loan is recognized as a liability in the Statement of Financial 
Position. The grants from BMZ and the Government of the 
Netherlands towards the loan interest are recognized as deferred 
income. Net grant receivable at year end has been recognized as 
a receivable in the Statement of Financial Positon.

Interest for the period is recognized as a financing expense in 
the Statement of Activities and the corresponding amount is 
released from deferred income and recognised as revenue in the 
Statement of Activites. 

As a part of the year-end currency revaluation, foreign exchange 
losses amount to USD 1,993k and are recognized in the Statement 
of Activities and is reflected in the year end value for the loan of 
USD 60,040k

14. RELATED PARTIES
In accordance with IAS24 an entity is related to a reporting entity 
if, among other circumstances, it is a parent, subsidiary, fellow 
subsidiary, associate, or joint venture of the reporting entity, or 
it is controlled, jointly controlled, or significantly influenced or 
managed by a person who is a related party. The following are 
related parties to the Crop Trust in accordance with IFRS (IAS24).

1. Friends of Global Crop Diversity Limited, a US 501(c)3 public 
charity incorporated in the State of Delaware in 2005, is 
organized on a non-profit, non-stock basis and does not 
have the authority to issue any capital stock. The corporation 
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is represented by three Directors and was established for 
the following purposes:

• To provide financial assistance to ensure the long term 
conservation and availability of plant genetic resources 
for food and agriculture for global food security

• To promote the objectives and purposes of the Crop 
Trust; and

• To solicit and receive funds and other property for 
the purpose of providing assistance to achieve these 
objectives.

During the period, Friends of Global Crop Diversity Limited 
disbursed USD 23,023 to the Crop Trust to support the 
development of a Coffee Conservation Strategy and to fund the 
shipment of seeds to the Svalbard Global Seed Vault.

2. Crop Trust Foundation gGmbH is a charitable organization 
established in 2017 under German law with a registered 
office in Bonn, Germany. It is represented by the Crop Trust 
as the only shareholder, and by two Directors. The gGmbH 
pursues charitable purposes and has tax-privileged status. 
The purpose of the gGmbH is to support activities related 
to environmental protection, science and development 
cooperation. This purpose is achieved by fundraising 
activities to the exclusive benefit of the Crop Trust. The 
Crop Trust made a formation capital loan of USD 28k to the 
Crop Trust Foundation gGmbH in January 2017 and this is 
recorded as an account receivable by the Crop Trust at 31 
December 2017.

Based on materiality considerations the Crop Trust is not 
preparing consolidated financial statements. 

3. Key Management personnel compensation
Key management personnel are those persons having 
authority and responsibility for planning, directing and 
controlling the activities of the Crop Trust. The Crop Trust’s 
“key management personnel” are members of the senior 
management team. 

The total remuneration for key management personnel for the 
year 2017 amounted to USD 1,142k (2016: USD 1,244k).  

The following table provide details of key management personnel 
remuneration as at 31 December 2017, 31 December 2016 and 
1 January 2016.

2017 2016
AS AT 1 JAN 

2016
USD'000 USD'000 USD'000

Short-term 
employee benefits

1,142 1,244 1,342

Long-term benefits 67 23 40

TOTAL 1,209 1,267 1,382

Transactions between the Crop Trust, related parties and 
key management personnel were made on an arm’s-length 
transaction basis.

15. NET ASSET BALANCES
Resources are classified for accounting and reporting purposes 
into net asset classes according to the restriction imposed. 

16. FINANCIAL ASSETS
The Crop Trust manages an endowment fund, which is used 
to fund the effective conservation and ready availability of the 
biological basis of agriculture. An endowment fund provides a 
permanent source of financial support matching the long-term 
nature of conservation with long-term secure and sustainable 
funding.

Funds are invested in accordance with Investment Objectives 
and Policies approved by the Executive Board. The Finance and 
Investment Committee implements the investment strategy 
adopted by the Executive Board. Following a tender process for 
investment management services in early 2016, the Crop Trust 
appointed two investment managers to manage the endowment 
funds - Mercer Global Investments Europe Limited, based in 
London, and Deutsche Asset Management International GmbH, 
based in Frankfurt. 

The Crop Trust is an official signatory to the United Nations 
Principles for Responsible Investment (UNPRI), an international 
framework for incorporating sustainability into investment 
decision-making. The Crop Trust is actively working with its 
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investment managers to find areas in which the UNPRI principles 
can be further integrated into the decision making, manager 
selection and due diligence processes of the Crop Trust. In 
addition, the Executive Board of the Crop Trust has approved 
the incorporation of UNPRI factors into its investment policy 
statement to ensure that it addresses risks and opportunities 
of Environmental, Social and Governance (ESG) factors in the 
management of the Crop Trust’s assets and has approved a 
Responsible Investment Policy to align its investment strategy with 
its core mission.

The value of the financial assets at year-end was USD 289,275k 
which represents amounts held in both the USD and EUR 
endowment funds including amounts to be withdrawn to cover 
permanently restricted expenditures. The EUR endowment fund 
holds the value of the loan received in 2017 in the amount of USD 
58,047k together with grants received to cover interest payments 
on this loan.  The loan is recognized as a non-current liability, 
contributions towards the loan interest are recorded as deferred 
income and all other contributions, fees and gains/losses are 
reported as an increase or decrease in the Statement of Activities.

The amount to be withdrawn of USD 4,250k has been recognized 
as current assets and the remaining balance of USD 285,025k 
have been recognized as non-current asset in the Statement of 
Financial Position.

The following schedule represents the composition of the market 
value of the endowment fund including amounts held in trust in 
the form of cash and cash equivalents as at 31 December 2017, 
31 December 2016 and 1January 2016.

EUR 
Endowment 
Fund

2017 2016
AS AT 1 JAN 

2016
USD'000 USD'000 USD'000

Equities 9,288 - -

Bonds 52,634 - -
Cash 270 - -

TOTAL 62,192 - -

GRAND TOTAL 289,275 187,963 157,402

The permanently restricted net assets at year-end of USD 
222,827k (31 December 2016: USD 187,963k) represent the 
amounts held in the USD endowment fund together with net 
gains of the EUR endowment fund. That is, the principal together 
with interest earned, changes in market value less management 
fees and income released - and cash and cash equivalents. The 
movements are reported in the Statement of Activities.

USD 
Endowment 
Fund

2017 2016
AS AT 1 JAN 

2016
USD'000 USD'000 USD'000

Equities 136,747 85,388 67,317

Bonds 64,311 56,300 58,932

Hedge Funds 12,149 26,588 -

Commodities 2,536 3,063 3,992

Convertibles 8,103 - -

Private Markets 2,444 2,421 -

Cash 793 14,203 27,161

TOTAL 227,083 187,963 157,402
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The following table provides an analysis of changes to the Financial 
Assets during the year. 

USD ENDOWMENT 
FUND   NOTE

2017
 USD'000 

2016
 USD'000 

BALANCE AS AT 1 
JANUARY     187,963 157,376

Contribution 1 13,093 23,974

Endowment Fund 
Gain/(Loss) 2 29,631 10,192

Management Fees (1,172) (1,129)

Withdrawal 3 (6,682) (2,450)

Total movement 34,870 30,587

Short-Term Financial 
Assets 4,250 -

BALANCE AS AT 
31 DECEMBER          227,083 187,963

EUR ENDOWMENT 
FUND

  NOTE 2017 2016
 USD'000  USD'000 

BALANCE AS AT 1 
JANUARY     - -

Contribution from 
borrowings 4 58,047 -

Contribution to Loan 
Interest 1 2,262 -

Endwoment fund 
Gain/(Loss) 2 20 -

Loan interest 1 (104)

FX revaluation gains/
(loss) 1,967  -

Total movement 62,192 -

BALANCE AS AT 
31 DECEMBER          62,192 -

GRAND TOTAL     289,275 187,963

Notes:

1. Contribution represents donations received from donors 
during the year towards the USD endowment fund and 
donations received towards the loan interest payable.

2. Endowment fund gain represents the change in the market 
value of the fund and is reported as finance income. This 
represents an unrealized gain as at 31 December 2017.

3. The Investment Objectives and Policies of the Crop Trust 
relating to the USD endowment fund permit the annual 
withdrawal of up to 4% of the average market value of the 
fund over the previous twelve quarters. 

4. Contribution from borrowings represents the loan received 
from KfW in 2017.

17. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset 
or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between 
market participants at the measurement date (ie an exit price).

The assets in the endowment funds of the Crop Trust are measured 
and recognized at fair value. In determining fair value, the Fund 
uses valuation techniques that maximize the use of observable 
inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs. The 
valuation techniques used by the Fund to determine fair value are 
consistent with the market or income approaches. The fair value 
is determined based on assumptions that market participants 
use in pricing an asset or liability in the market. When considering 
market participant assumptions in fair value measurements, the 
following fair value hierarchy distinguishes between observable 
and unobservable inputs, which are categorized in one of the 
following levels prescribed under the accounting standard on fair 
value hierarchy disclosure: 

Level 1: Valuations based on unadjusted quoted prices in active 
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the Fund has the 
ability to access. The fair value of financial assets traded in active 
markets (such as publicly traded derivatives, and trading and 
available-for-sale securities) is based on quoted market prices at 
the end of the reporting period. The quoted market price used for 
financial assets held is the current bid price. These instruments 
are included in level 1.
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Level 2: Valuations based on inputs, other than quoted 
prices included in level 1, that are observable either directly or 
indirectly. The fair value of financial assets that are not traded in 
an active market (for example, over-the-counter derivatives) is 
determined using valuation techniques which maximize the use 
of observable market data and rely as little as possible on entity-
specific estimates. If all significant inputs required to fair value an 
instrument are observable, the instrument is included in level 2.

Level 3: Valuations based on inputs that are unobservable and 
significant to the overall fair value measurement. If one or more of 
the significant inputs is not based on observable market data, the 
instrument is included in level 3. 

Valuation techniques used to determine fair values

The level in the fair value hierarchy within which the fair value 
measurement is categorized in its entirety is determined on 
the basis of the lowest level input that is significant to the fair 
value measurement. For this purpose, the significance of an 
input is assessed against the fair value measurement in its 
entirety. If a fair value measurement uses observable inputs that 
require significant adjustment based on unobservable inputs, 
that measurement is a Level 3 measurement. Assessing the 
significance of a particular input to the fair value measurement 
in its entirety requires judgement, considering factors specific to 
the asset or liability.

The determination of what constitutes “observable” requires 
significant judgment. The organization considers observable 
data to be that market data that is readily available, regularly 
distributed or updated, reliable and verifiable, not proprietary, 
and provided by independent sources that are actively involved 
in the relevant market.

For each class of assets and liabilities not measured at fair value 
in the Statement of Financial Position but for which fair value is 
disclosed, IFRS 13 requires the organization to disclose the level 
within the fair value hierarchy which the fair value measurement 
would be categorized and a description of the valuation technique 
and inputs used in the technique.

Cash and cash equivalents include deposits held with banks 
and other short-term investments in an active market and are 

categorized as Level 1. 

Pooled investment vehicles that do not have a quoted price 
on a recognized stock exchange are classified as Level 2. The 
underlying assets of the pooled fund may be judged to belong 
to Level 1, for example, the equity funds however, due to the 
understanding that the level should be applied to the unit holding 
in the pooled fund, this would classify the equity funds as Level 2. 
Where funds comprise of collective investment schemes and not 
segregated investments and the underlying assets can be classed 
as Level 1 or 2 assets they will be classified as Level 2.  

If no trade prices are available, prices are determined with the aid 
of valuation models which are agreed between the custodian and 
the investment company and are based as far as possible on the 
market parameters. 

The Fund’s assets and liabilities recorded at fair value have been 
categorized based upon a fair value hierarchy as described above. 

The following tables presents the composition of the endowment 
fund including amounts held in trust in the form of cash and cash 
equivalents measured at fair value as of December 31 2016 and 
31 December 2017 (in thousands).
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 LEVEL 1 LEVEL 2 LEVEL 3 TOTAL
USD'000 USD'000 USD'000 USD'000

USD ENDOWMENT FUND PORTFOLIO
At 31 Dec 2016

Financial 
assets at FVPL*

Equities 18,455 66,933 - 85,388

Bonds 1,994 54,306 - 56,300

Hedge Funds 16,469 - 10,119 26,588
Commodities - 3,063 - 3,063

Private Markets - - 2,421 2,421
Cash & Other 14,203 - - 14,203

Total financial 
assets 51,121 124,302 12,540 187,963

USD ENDOWMENT FUND PORTFOLIO
At 31 Dec 2017

Financial 
assets at FVPL*

Equities 26,635 110,112 - 136,747

Bonds / Credit 14,614 49,697 - 64,311
Hedge Funds - 1,544 10,605 12,149
Commodities - 2,536 - 2,536
Convertibles - 8,103 - 8,103
Private Markets - - 2,444 2,444
Cash & Other 793 - - 793

Total financial 
assets 42,042 171,992 13,049 227,083

EUR ENDOWMENT FUND PORTFOLIO
At 31 Dec 2017

Financial 
assets at FVPL*

Equities - 9,288 - 9,288
Bonds - 52,634 - 52,634
Cash & Other 270 - - 270

Total financial 
assets 270 61,922 - 62,192

GRAND TOTAL 
2017 42,312    233,914 13,049 289,275

*FVPL – changes in fair value are recognized in profit and loss (Statement of 
Activities) as they arise

 

Level 3 Fair Value measurements 

The use of valuation techniques for Level 3 investments involve 
consideration of whether discounts or premiums, if any, are to 
be applied to the net asset value of the underlying collective 
investment scheme. No significant premiums or discounts have 
been applied to the net asset value at 31 December 2017, or 31 
December 2016.

The investments are classified as Level 3 due to the inherent 
nature of these investments (i.e. side-pockets, funds with 
restricted liquidity and the fact that some of the inputs into the 
valuation were not observable on the market). 

The following table presents the changes in Level 3 items for the 
periods ending 31 December 2017 and 31 December 2016.

HEDGE 
FUND

USD’000

PRIVATE 
MARKET

USD’000

Opening Balance 1 January 2016 -  - 

Acquisition 9,983 2,478

Gains / (Losses) recognized in 
permanent net asset

136 (57)

Closing balance as  
at 31 December 2016

10,119 2,421

Acquisitions 13  - 

Gains recognized in permanent net 
asset*

473 23

Closing balance as  
at 31 December 2017

10,605 2,444

* includes unrealized gains or (losses) recognized in profit or loss attributable to 
balances held at the end of the reporting periods

There were no transfers to other levels in the fair value heirarchy 
in 2017. There is an acquisition included in the amount of USD 
13k in hedge funds. 

The private market investments included in the majority of 
collective investment schemes classified in Level 3 have been 
valued on the basis of the net asset value (NAV) of the underlying 
fund without adjustment, which the Directors believe is an 
appropriate measurement of fair value as at the financial period 
end date.
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In relation to Funds’ invested in Level 3, assuming everything 
remained equal but the NAV prices were changed by 3% then the 
fair value of Level 3 investments would change as outlined in the 
following table.

Fund 2017 2016
 USD'000  USD'000 

Hedge fund 19 16

Private Market 73 71

The Fair value of USD 62,562k of the KfW loan is calculated with 
the aid of discounted cash flow method based on observable 
interest rates and exchange rates and accordingly classified as 
Level 2 instrument.

For cash and cash equivalents, receivables and payables the 
carrying amounts approximate fair value, because of the short 
maturity of these instruments, and therefore fair value information 
is not included in the notes. 

18. RISK MANAGEMENT
As an international organization, the Crop Trust is exposed to 
financial risks in the normal course of business. A major objective 
of the organization’s policy is to minimize the impact of market, 
liquidity and default risks on the value of the organization in order 
to avoid adverse fluctuations in cash flows and earnings without 
forgoing the opportunity to benefit from positive market trends. 
For this purpose, a systematic financial risk management system 
has been established. Interest rate and exchange rate risks are 
managed in accordance with established corporate policies. 

Market risk

Market risk can be subdivided into exchange rate, interest 
rate and commodity/other price risk. The organization’s risk 
management is carried out by the finance department under 
policies approved by the Finance and Investment Committee 
and the Executive Board of Directors. The finance department 
works in close collaboration with the investment fund managers 
to identify, evaluate and manage financial risks. The management 
of these risks is explained below.

Exchange Rate Risk 

Exchange rate risk arises from future commercial transactions and 
recognized asset and liabilities denominated in a currency that is 
not the functional currency of the organization. To the extent that 
assets are denominated in a different currency (or in currencies 
in different proportions) compared to expected spending, there 
is a risk that adverse currency moves could impact the ability of 
the Crop Trust to meet its obligations. The Crop Trust values its 
assets and considers its risk in USD terms as the Crop Trust has a 
global remit and spending can be made in a variety of currencies. 
The Crop Trust holds endowment funds in USD and EUR with the 
objective of minimizing its currency risk exposure. Spending from 
the Funds is predominantly in the currency of the fund. The Crop 
Trust aims to maintain well diversified portfolios by currency and 
does not consider it cost effective to hedge currency exposure 
(for example, into USD).

The exchange rate risks associated with the concessional loan 
include the risk that investments do not keep pace with inflation 
or the risk of a mismatch between the currency of debt service 
obligations and of the currency of invested loan principal 
and associated investment returns. The EUR denominated 
concessional loan is expected to be repaid with receipts from 
the EUR denominated endowment fund. The loan proceeds and 
interest subsidies have been invested within a separate EUR 
investment fund which mitigates the currency risk by matching 
the currency of the loan and its debt service obligations to 
the currency of the invested assets and to the corresponding 
investment income. In addition, net income generated by the 
investment in the separate EUR investment fund could be used 
in full, with no further currency risks attached, to support the 
operational expenses of the Crop Trust secretariat in EUR.

The table below summarizes the impact of the increase or 
decrease in EUR-USD exchange rate by 10 percent on total net 
asset as at 31 December 2017 and 31 December 2016 are as 
follows:
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Exchange Rate Risk
IMPACT ON TOTAL 

NET ASSET

2017 2016
USD'000 USD'000

EUR-USD exchange rate - increase 
10%*

1,128 219

EUR-USD exchange rate - decrease 
10%*

(1,933) (752)

*Holding all other variables constant

Interest Rate Risk 

Interest rate management protects net income from the negative 
effects of fluctuations in market interest rates. Interest rate risk is 
managed by using derivative and non-derivative financial assets. 
The aim is to achieve an appropriate ratio of fixed and variable 
rates taking costs and risk into account.

The Crop Trust’s main interest rate risks arise from long-term 
investments in the endowment funds, one of which holds the EUR 
concessional loan. The Crop Trust manages the risk associated 
with the loan by investing the loan proceeds in order to earn 
an expected average investment return of approximately 3.0% 
p.a. The net annual margin of ca. 2.0% between the expected 
investment return and the loan interest allow the Crop Trust to 
build a financial buffer to protect itself against a possible shortfall 
of investment income against the interest to be paid to the 
lender. The loan period of 15 years provides a sufficiently long 
investment horizon to accommodate possible short-term capital 
market volatility without jeopardizing the long-term investment 
performance of the invested loan principal. In addition, the loan 
has a fixed interest rate for the full term of the loan, thereby 
providing a predictable cost structure. 

The interest rate risk of the USD endowment fund is managed 
by maintaining a well-diversified portfolio. The fund is exposed to 
interest rate risk due to the pooled funds and also to overseas 
interest rate risk as part of the investment strategy is to invest 
globally to add value. In addition to maintaining well diversified 
portfolios in the two dominant currencies of the Crop Trust’s 
operation,interest rate risk is also managed by entering into 
operational contracts in the currencies of the underlying 
expenditure involved, that is, USD or EUR to reduce exposure to 
interest rate fluctuations.

The table below summarizes the impact of an increase or 
decrease in USD interest rates by 1 percent on total net asset 
as at 31 December 2017 and 31 December 2016 are as follows:

Interest Rate Risk
IMPACT ON TOTAL 

NET ASSET

2017 2016
USD'000 USD'000

USD interest rate - increase 1%* (1,317) (995)

USD interest rate - decrease 1%* 1,533 1,156

*Holding all other variables constant

The table below summarizes the impact of an increase or decrease 
in USD interest rates by 5 percent on net assets. The price risks of 
the bonds relates primarily to the interest risk whereas credit risk 
has no material impact.

Price Risk
IMPACT ON TOTAL 

NET ASSET

2017 2016
USD'000 USD'000

Bond price - increase 5%* 2,965 2,440

Bond price - decrease 5%* (2,965) (2,440)
*Holding all other variables constant

Commodity / Other Price Risk

Commodity price risk is the volatility in fair value due to the price 
fluctuation. Commodity risk affects various sectors of the market 
as a commodity’s price is affected by politics, seasonal changes, 
technology and current market conditions. Other price risk is the 
risk that the fair value of equities will fluctuate because of changes 
in market price. 

The Crop Trust manages price risk exposure by constructing 
a diverse portfolio of investments across various markets and 
geographies. Diversification of the portfolio is done in accordance 
with the limits set by the organization.

The table below summarises the impact of an increase/decrease 
in equity prices by 5 percent on total net asset. 
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Price risk
IMPACT ON TOTAL 

NET ASSET

2017 2016
USD'000 USD'000

Equity price - increase 5%* 8,258 5,296

Equity price - decrease 5%* (8,138) (5,247)

*Holding all other variables constant

Credit Risk 
Credit risk arises from cash and cash equivalents, investments, 
receivables, derivatives and deposits with banks and financial 
institutions. The carrying amount of these instruments represents 
the maximum credit risk of the Crop Trust. At the reporting date, 
there were no significant arrangements which reduced the 
maximum credit risk.

Credit risk management divides default risks into the categories, 
namely; debtors and creditor risk, country risk and the risk 
of default by financial counterparties, that is, the risk that a 
counterparty will not fulfill its contractual obligations.  

The Crop Trust has in place operating procedures with a stringent 
due diligence process for the selection of counterparty before 
entering into contracts. For banks and financial institutions, 
only independently rated parties with a minimum rating of 
“A” are accepted. The debtors and creditor risk control assess 
their credit quality taking into account their financial position, 
past experiences and other factors. Default risks are analyzed 
and monitored continuously with the aid of internal policy and 
procedures and strong reporting and interaction is implemented 
to limit risk exposure.

Country risk is also taken into account for donor agreements so 
that the overall risk assessment considers political risk factors. 
On the basis of this analysis, specific terms and conditions are 
defined in agreements with contracting parties. The Crop Trust 
set high standards for the credit worthiness of counterparties. 

The Crop Trust does not anticipate any debtor or creditor default 
as at 31 December 2017. Total “receivable – other” amounts 
to USD 92k as at 31 December 2017 (see note 5 for detail). 
“Receivable – other” does not contain any impairment and are 

not past due. Based on credit history, it is expected that these 
amounts will be received in full. 

The risks associated with the loan are default and erosion risks. 
The risk of (a) not being able to repay the loan principal and/or 
interest due to a lack of funds at the loan repayment due date 
or (b) using endowment funds as ultimate resource to meet 
loan repayment obligations. The Crop Trust will manage this 
risk by restricting its withdrawals from investment income on 
invested loan principal to the actual returns generated minus any 
loan expenses. This will ensure that only actual net investment 
income earned will be withdrawn, therefore protecting against 
withdrawals from invested loan principal. In order to balance 
the level of funds available for investment with the level of funds 
withdrawn for funding Crop Trust’s activity, the interest subsidies 
along with the loan principal have been invested together with 
the interest subsidies being used up gradually by covering a set 
proportion of the periodical interest payments.  

The Crop Trust manages this risk by investing the loan proceeds in 
order to earn an expected average investment return of around 
3.0% p.a. The net annual margin of ca. 2.0% between the expected 
investment return and the loan interest allow the Crop Trust to 
build a financial buffer to protect itself against a possible shortfall 
of investment income and the interest to be paid to lenders. 
The loan time horizon of 15 years provides a sufficiently long 
investment horizon to accommodate possible short-term capital 
market volatility without jeopardizing the long-term investment 
performance of the invested loan principal. 

Liquidity Risk

Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient 
cash and marketable securities and the availability of funding 
through an adequate amount of committed credit facilities to 
meet obligations when due and to close out market positions. 
Liquidity risk management occurs through business planning to 
ensure that the funds required to finance the current operating 
business and current and future investments are available at the 
right time and in the right currency at optimum cost. Liquidity 
requirements for business operations, investments and other 
financial activities are derived from financing status and liquidity 
planning, which form part of liquidity risk management. 
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Management set liquidity targets and monitor performance 
against these targets on the basis of cash and cash equivalents 
and expected cash flows. The liquidity target set for the 
endowment fund is 80% redeemable within 3 months under 
normal market conditions and 5% redeemable within 7 days 
under normal market conditions. The fund was within target as 
at 31 December 2017.

The Crop Trust had cash and cash equivalents of USD 19,501k as 
at 31 December 2017. Approximately USD 11,490k of this amount 
will be used to settle grant payables in 2018. In addition, as of 31 
December 2017 the Crop Trust met all payment terms agreed for 
financial liabilities.

The table below analyses the group’s financial liabilities into 
relevant maturity groupings based on their contractual maturities 
for all non-derivative financial liabilities and derivative financial 
assets for which the contractual maturities are essential for an 
understanding of the timing of the cash flows.

The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual 
undiscounted cash flows as at 31 December 2017 and 31 
December 2016. 

  

CONTRACTUAL MATURITIES OF FINANCIAL LIABILITIES 
AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2016 

 
UP TO 1 

YEAR
1-5 

YEARS

MORE 
THAN 5 

YEARS TOTAL
USD,000 USD,000 USD,000 USD,000

Non-derivatives

Payables 3,383 - - 3,383

Accruals 159 -  - 159

Total 
non-derivatives

3,542 0 0 3,452

Derivatives

Trading 
derivatives

10,125 - - 10,125

Total Derivatives 10,125 0 0 10,125

Repayment of contractual obligations, in particular of the KfW 
loan, is ensured by the assets of the endowment fund.

Additional Information on Risk Management of the 
Financial Assets

The Investment Policy Statement (“IPS”), issued by the Executive 
Board (“the Board”) of the Crop Trust, affirms the investment 
principles that govern decisions about the investment of the 
Crop Trust’s Endowment Fund (“the Fund”). This policy provides 
guidelines for the prudent management of the endowment fund 
of the Crop Trust and prioritizes the preservation of capital ahead 
of maximization of investment returns in order to minimize risk 
exposure.

The investment objective of the USD Fund is to earn returns 
sufficient to outpace spending, maintaining the Fund’s real 
purchasing power over time and, if possible, growing it. With this 
goal in mind and the 4% cap on spending adopted by the Crop 
Trust, the Fund aims to attain an annualized real total return1  of 
at least 4%, net of fees, over rolling ten-year periods.

The investment objective of the EUR Fund is to earn returns which 
exceed loan interest, maintaining the Fund’s real value over time 

CONTRACTUAL MATURITIES OF FINANCIAL LIABILITIES 
AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2017 

UP TO 1 
YEAR

USD,000

1-5 
YEARS

USD,000

MORE 
THAN 5 

YEARS
USD,000

TOTAL

Non-derivatives

Payables 11,805 - - 11,805

Accruals 258 - - 258

Borrowings - 2,859 57,181 60,040

Total 
non-derivatives

12,063 2,859 57,181 72,103

Derivatives     

Trading derivatives 10,707 - - 10,707

Total Derivatives 10,707 0 0 10,707

1 Real total return is the sum of realized and unrealized capital appreciation (or loss) and income in the form of dividends and interest, adjusted for inflation as measured by the U.S. 
Consumer Price Index.
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to cover the loan repayment. The fund aims to earn an expected 
average annual investment return of approximately 3.0%.

A further objective is to align investments to the Crop Trust’s 
core mission to ensure the conservation and availability of crop 
diversity for food security worldwide. The Crop Trust’s Responsible 
Investment Policy was updated in 2017 to include the Crop Trust’s 
Statement of Responsible Investment Beliefs and was approved 
by the Executive Board on 21 March 2018. 

The Endowment Fund achieves its investment objectives above 
within risk levels deemed appropriate by the Finance and 
Investment Committee (FIC) and consistent with the Executive 
Board approved Investment Policy Statement as follows:

(a) Conditional Value at Risk – the forward looking one-year 
conditional value at risk, at a 95% probability level, should be 
less than 30% of the value of the Fund. This risk measures 
the average loss (negative change in market value) over a 
given time horizon and conditional on the event that the loss 
exceeds 95% probability level. As at 31 December 2017, the 
forward-looking year 95% conditional value at risk (cVaR) for 
the entire portfolio was within this range.

(b) On a forward-looking basis, the aim should be to maintain 
the annualized 10-year volatility of the portfolio at no more 
than 15% per annum. As at 31 December 2017, the volatility 
for the entire portfolio was within this range.

The investment performance of the Funds are monitored against 
the investment return objectives, risk tolerances and liquidity 
requirements set out in the Investment Policy Statement. 
Performance reports generated by the Investment Managers are 
consolidated quarterly and reviewed by the FIC. The evaluation 
of overall investment performance results is assessed over 
significantly longer periods of time meant to capture a full 
economic cycle, such as rolling ten-year periods. 

In addition to the above, risk reporting assesses the additional 
financial risks incurred by the Crop Trust in pursuing its investment 
objectives, as well as analysis of whether the expected returns 
justify the risks taken. In addition to the those covered in note 15 
above these financial risks include, but are not limited to:

• Concentration Risk 

The Executive Board recognizes the risks that may arise 
from the lack of diversification of investments. The 
Investment Managers therefore aim to ensure their asset 
allocation results in an adequately diversified portfolio. 
Some investment exposure is obtained via pooled vehicles. 
The concentration risk target of no more than 60% of the 
portfolio held in any single asset class is monitored by 
management.

• Operational Risk

This is the risk of inadequate or failed internal procedures 
and systems, inadequate capacity or external events 
(including legal risks) in the facilitation and administration of 
a new type of financial resource. To mitigate against this risk, 
the Crop Trust conducts periodic assessments of its internal 
capacity as well as the systems and procedures in place. To 
this effect, the relevant risk indicators relating to these issues 
are integrated into the Crop Trust’s overall institutional risk 
management procedures and policies.

• Donor Liability risks

This is the risk of Crop Trust’s donors being liable for acts 
or obligations of the Crop Trust or to have any actual or 
contingent liability arising out of their donations. This is 
not an actual risk in the Crop Trust’s donors’ case, as the 
acceptance of the loan would not impose any actual or 
contingent liabilities for current or future donors providing 
grant contributions to the Crop Trust. 

• Other risks

The above risks relate to the specific financial risks that may 
be created by financial assets and liabilities. There are also 
other, general risks that the Crop Trust faces in its normal 
operations, for example, the risk of short-term capital market 
volatility that is inherent in any endowment structure such 
as that of the Crop Trust. These will be mitigated through 
the institutional Risk Management process of the Crop Trust 
and the associated metrics, as adapted to cover the aspects 
related to the loan. 

19. REVENUE AND GAINS
Total revenue and gains recognized in 2017 amount to USD 
45,061k (USD 55,674k in 2016) which includes USD 31,700k (USD 
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31,028k in 2016) released from temporary restrictions. 

The following table provides details of revenue.

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2017 2016
USD'000 USD'000

Grant Revenue 31,700 31,028

Contribution to Endowment fund 13,093 23,974

Contribution to loan interest 104 -

Other revenue 13 605

Other miscellaneous income 151 67
TOTAL 45,061 55,674

20. EXPENSE AND LOSSES
Expenses and losses are recorded on an accruals basis in the 
Statement of Activities in the period in which the cost is incurred.

The Crop Trust continued its program of providing long-term 
sustainable funding to the world’s most important collections of 
crop diversity with the help of its donors; collections of banana, 
barley, bean, cassava, chickpea, edible aroids, faba bean, forages, 
grasspea, lentil, maize, pearl millet, rice, sorghum, sweet potato, 
wheat and yam were supported in 2017. 

Program expenses, including personnel costs, increased to USD 
36,757k in 2017 (2016: USD 32,445k) as the Crop Trust continued 
to work with International Genebanks under the new agreement 
with the Consortium of International Agricultural Research 
Centers for the Genebank Platform program and other partners 
including the Norwegian Agency for Development Co-operation, 
the Federal Office for Agriculture and Food and the Federal 
Ministry for Economic Cooperation and Development in Germany. 

Management and general and fundraising expenses include 
administrative salaries, travel, institutional communications, 
professional services and IT/Facilities. Expenditure increased from 
USD 1,704k in 2016 to USD 1,777k in 2017.  

As at 31 December 2017 the Crop Trust employed 26 full time 
equivalent staff members (2016: 28; and as at 1 January 2016 

26.5). Personnel costs for 2017 increased to USD 3,209k (2016: 
USD 2,983k). In the table below personnel costs have been split 
across program direct expenses, management and general 
expenses and fundraising expenses.

The following table provides further details of expenses as at 31 
December 2017 and 31 December 2016.

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2017 2016
USD'000 USD'000

Program direct expenses

Conservation grants 6,852 2,588
Global system development grants 26,164 25,843
Personnel expenses 2,323 2,344

Professional services 662 768

Supplies & Services 130 158

Travel 626 744

Total Program direct expenses 36,757 32,445

Management and general 
expenses

Personnel expenses 802 528

Travel 25 32

Governance 175 124

Communications 158 153

Professional services 76 43

Facilities 188 307

Total Management and general 
expenses 1,424 1,187

Fundraising expenses

Personnel expenses 84 111

Travel 109 159

Governance 9 41

Professional services 149 203

Supplies & Services 2 3

Total Fundraising expenses 353 517

GRAND TOTAL 38,534 34,149
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21. FINANCE INCOME AND EXPENSES
Finance income and expenditure consists of the net gain/(loss) 
on the endowment funds, investment management fees and loan 
interest totalling USD 28,349k in 2017.

2017 2016
USD'000 USD'000

Finance Income

Net gain/(loss) on endowment funds 29,651 10,193

FX revaluation gains 1,967 -

Total Finance income 31,618 10,193

Finance Expenses

FX revaluation (loss) 1,993 -

Investment management fees 1,172 1,130

Interest on loan 104 -

Total Finance expenses 3,269 1,130

GRAND TOTAL 28,349 9,063

22. FINANCIAL STANDARDS ISSUED NOT YET 
EFFECTIVE
The standards and interpretations that are issued, but not yet 
effective, up to the date of issuance of the Crop Trust’s Financial 
Statements are disclosed below. The Crop Trust intends to adopt 
these standards if applicable when they become effective.

IFRS 9 – Financial Instruments

In July 2014, the IASB issued the final version of IFRS 9 Financial 
Instruments that replaces IAS 39 Financial Instruments: 
Recognition and Measurement and all previous versions of IFRS 
9. IFRS 9 brings together all three aspects of the accounting 
for financial instruments: classification and measurement, 
impairment, and hedge accounting. IFRS 9 is effective for 
annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018, with early 
application permitted. Except for hedge accounting, retrospective 
application is required but providing comparative information 
is not compulsory. For hedge accounting, the requirements are 
generally applied prospectively, with some limited exceptions.

Classification and measurement:

The Crop Trust does not expect significant impact on its 
balance sheet net assets when applying the classification and 
measurement requirements of IFRS 9. However, the Crop 
Trust will analyze all financial instruments in more detail before 
concluding whether all those instruments meet the criteria for 
amortized cost or fair value measurement under IFRS 9.

Impairment:

IFRS 9 requires the Crop Trust to record expected credit losses, 
either on a 12-month or lifetime basis. The Crop Trust does not 
expect a significant impact, but it will need to perform a more 
detailed analysis.

Hedge accounting:

IFRS 9 aligns hedge accounting with the risk management 
activities of an entity. It makes some fundamental changes to the 
requirements under IAS 39 by removing or amending some of the 
key prohibitions and rules within this standard. The Crop Trust 
does not expect the changes introduced by IFRS 9 in relation 
to hedge accounting to impact it’s financial statements. These 
changes are deemed not relevant for the Crop Trust, however, it 
will assess these changes in more detail in the future. 

IFRS 15 – Revenue from contracts with customers

IFRS 15 provide guidance on accounting for revenue from 
contracts with customers. It was adopted in 2014. and will 
became effective January 2018. IFRS 15 is effective for annual 
reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018, with 
earlier application permitted.

IFRS 15 establishes the principles that an entity applies when 
reporting information about the nature, amount, timing and 
uncertainty of revenue and cash flows from a contract with a 
customer. IFRS 15 requires an entity to recognises revenue to 
depict the transfer of promised goods or services to the customer 
in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the entity 
expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services.

Measurement:

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received 
or receivable under IFRS15. In most cases, the consideration is in 
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the form of cash or cash equivalents.

The Crop Trust does not expect significant impact on 
its financial statements as a result of  the measurement 
requirements of IFRS15 as it does not have trade customers. 

IFRS 16 – Leases 

IFRS 16 was issued by the IASB in January 2016. It will 
replace IAS 17 Lease for reporting periods beginning on or 
after 1 January 2019. It can be applied before that date by 
entities that also apply IFRS 15 revenue from contracts with 
customers. The Crop Trust does not expect any impact on 
it’s financial statements because the it does not hold any 
significant leased asset.
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On behalf of the Executive Board
9 May 2018

___________________________________________
Marie Haga 
Executive Secretary
    

___________________________________________   
Janet Muir
Director of Finance
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We thank you all for your support, for 
understanding the urgency of safeguarding 
crop diversity, and for sharing our commitment 
to resilient, sustainable agriculture.

Sebastian Winkler
Crop Trust Head of Partnerships 




